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FOREWORD

The preparation of this volume was a formidable
undertaking for Dr. Cooper, not the least of whose editorial
skills has been to leave the reader unaware of the
considerable problems posed by her sources: their nature is
indicated in the editorial note. A grant from the Twenty-
Seven Foundation enabled photocopies of the manuscripts to
be made, and the Greening Lamborn Trust contributed most
handsomely to the publication costs of the volume. The
society is deeply grateful to both bodies.

Oxford, June 1989 Christopher Day
Hon. Editor, O.R.S.



EDITOR’S PREFACE

The records of the general eyre contain much information of
interest to local as well as to legal historians, but although
they have now been listed and described in a Public Record
Office handbook, the fact that they are unindexed makes
them difficult for most local historians to use. I hope that this
calendar of the 1241 rolls will make the record of one
Oxfordshire eyre readily accessible, and perhaps encourage
the use of the later, unpublished, rolls.

In the preparation of this calendar I have received help and
encouragement from many people. I am particularly
indebted to the late C. A. F. Meekings and the late Prof. R.
B. Pugh who encouraged me to undertake the work, to Dr.
Paul Hyams for advice in the early stages of the work, to Dr.
David Carpenter for help with the identification of surnames,
and to Dr. M. T. Clanchy for help with the subject index and
with the introduction. Miss Eleanor Chance has helped with
the typing of the index. Dr. J. F. A. Mason, the former
general editor of the Oxfordshire Record Society, showed
unfailing interest over the years, and I am particularly
grateful to Christopher Day, the present general editor of the
society, for proof-reading my word-processed text and for
seeing the volume through the press.



INTRODUCTION

Under John and Henry III the general eyre, or eyre for
common pleas, was a royal court moving round the country
to enforce law in a manner convenient for the litigants. It had
developed as a permanent and regular part of the judicial
system in the later 12th century, after the Assize of
Clarendon in 1166 had established the method of indictment
of suspected criminals and the first of the possessory assizes,
novel disseisin. Such eyres were held almost every year at the
end of the 12th century, but in the reign of Henry III they
were held less frequently, as other methods of dispensing
royal justice, such as commissions for gaol delivery,
developed. General eyres were held between 1218 and 1221,
1226 and 1229, 1231 and 1232, 1234 and 1236, 1239 and
1241, 1246 and 1249, 1250 and 1252, 1252 and 1258, and
1261 and 1263, and from 1268 to 1272. Under Edward I eyres
were held between 1274 and 1277 (to complete the last
visitation of Henry III’s reign), between 1278 and 1289, and
between 1292 and 1294, by which time the process was found
to be too cumbersome. It was revived briefly in 1329-30.
Much work on the history of the eyre in the reign of Henry
III has recently been done by the late C.A.F. Meekings and
by Dr. M.T. Clanchy, and the introductions to their editions
or calendars of the Wiltshire Eyre of 1249, the Berkshire Eyre
of 1248, and the Surrey Eyre of 1235 provide a very good
account of the subject.! Dr. D. Crook has discussed the
history of the eyre fully in his introduction to the Records of
the General Eyre.> The following paragraphs contain only a
brief summary.

The pleas in eyre were heard by the justices of the Bench
who normally sat at Westminster; indeed from 1235 up to
and including the eyre of 1246-9 the Bench closed down
during an eyre, and cases pending there were appointed to be
heard in the eyre; likewise at the end of the eyre cases would
be adjourned back to the Bench. During the eyre, cases
would be adjourned from one county to another. These
arrangements account for the large number of ‘foreign’
pleas, or pleas which do not relate to the county in which the
justices were then sitting, found on the eyre rolls. In the later

1. Crown Pleas of the Wiltshire Eyre 1249, ed. C. A. F. Meekings (Wilts. Rec. Soc. xvi);
Civil Pleas of the Wiltshire Eyre 1249, ed. Michael Clanchy (Wilts. Rec. Soc. xxvi);
Surrey Eyre 1235, ed. C.A.F. Meekings and D. Crook (Surrey Rec. Soc. xxxi)

2. P.R.O. Handbooks 20.

xi
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13th century the foreign pleas were enrolled separately, but in
1241 they were enrolled with the Oxfordshire pleas,
presumably in the order in which they were heard, or were
expected to be heard. The foreign pleas have been included in
this calendar in order to give a full account of the eyre, but
they have not been edited in detail.

The chief justice on the south-eastern circuit for the eyre of
1240-1 was William of York who shortly afterwards, in
November 1241, became the senior justice in the court coram
rege, that is the group of senior justices who travelled with
the king acting as a court of appeal. He had served as an eyre
justice from 1227 onwards and become a justice in the Bench
in 1231. He resigned his justiceship in February 1247 on
becoming bishop of Salisbury.?® His circuit in 1240-1 covered
Norfolk, Suffolk, Essex, Hertfordshire, Cambridgeshire,
Huntingdonshire, Bedfordshire, Buckinghamshire, Oxford-
shire, Surrey, Kent, Sussex, and Berkshire. His colleagues on
‘the most distinguished team in any eyre circuit from 1218
onwards’* were Henry of Bath, a leading justice from 1245
who became chief justice of the Bench in 1245, Gilbert of
Preston, who was to be chief justice in 29 eyres between 1254
and 1272 and a chief justice in the common bench, and Roger
of Thirkelby, a leading justice (with Henry of Bath) in eyres
from 1245 to 1252 and chief justice of the common bench.®

The rolls calendared here, now numbered JUST 1/695 and
JUST 1/696 in the Public Record Office, are the earliest
Oxfordshire rolls to survive, apart from a single membrane
of the crown pleas for Ploughley hundred from the 1235 eyre
(JUST 1/1580). Earlier Oxfordshire eyres are known only
from surviving feet of fines, accounts or escheat rolls. They
were held in 1194, 1199, during the general eyre of 1201-3,
from December 1218 to January 1219, and in 1227. Other
Oxfordshire eyres were held in 1247 (JUST 1/699), in 1252
(no roll survives), in 1260 (JUST 1/713, incomplete), in 1261
(JUST 1/701), in 1268 (JUST 1/702A-C, JUST 1/703), and
in 1285 (JUST 1/704-710). In addition to being the earliest
surviving rolls, JUST 1/695 and 696 are the only two
complete rolls for the same eyre to survive before the seven
rolls for the 1285 eyre. The two rolls, which were made for
two justices, are not identical and to some extent complement
each other.

3.  Meekings, Surrey Eyre, p. 259.

4.  Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, p. xvii.

S Meekings, Crown Pleas of the Wilts. Eyre, pp. 128-9; Crook, Recs. of the General
Eyre, pp. 17-18.

6. Crook, Recs. of the General Eyre, pp. 18-19, 127.
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The writ initiating the eyre in 1240 does not survive, as
both the patent and the close rolls for that year have been
lost, but William of York and his colleagues were instructed
to begin a circuit of Oxfordshire, Berkshire, Somerset, and
Dorset at Oxford 15 days after Easter (14 April) 1241.” On
that day they took the essoins ‘de malo veniendi’, that is they
heard the excuses sent by those who claimed to be unable to
get to court. The litigant’s messenger, his essoiner, claimed
that he had set out for court but had been prevented by some
accident from reaching it. This essoin resulted in a delay of at
least two weeks, and was usually cast by defendants who
wanted more time to prepare their cases. The justices heard
further essoins ‘de malo veniendi’ at Oxford on Wednesday
17 April, on Sunday 21 April, and on Sunday 28 April; on
Friday 26 April they heard one essoin ‘de malo lecti’, in
which the litigant claimed that he was ill in bed and therefore
could not come to court. On Friday 4 May the justices were at
Wycombe to hear essoins ‘de malo veniendi’ there for the
Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire lands of the honor of
Wallingford.

The justices probably began hearing civil pleas on Monday
15 April. Those were disputes between two parties, mainly
over land or rights in it. Some pleas had been adjourned from
the Bench, but most were brought by local knights and
freemen who perhaps could not afford the expense of
litigation at Westminster and preferred to wait for the arrival
of the justices in their neighbourhood. As has already been
explained, the civil pleas in the 1241 eyre included many
‘foreign’ pleas relating to counties other than Oxfordshire.
The litigants in those pleas, or their attornies, had to come to
Oxford for the plea. Pleading was formal, and strictly laid
down for each action; this is apparent from the stereotyped
phrases of the recording clerks, and from the frequent use (in
the original rolls) of ‘etc.’. The litigants did not ordinarily
produce evidence to support their suit, they stated their case
and the jury decided, from their knowledge of the affair, who
was in the right.

The most common action (126 out of c¢. 680 pleas in which
the action can be identified) was that for dower, in which a
widow claimed her share, usually a third, of her late
husband’s lands. In 5 cases (304, 382, 461, 475, 521) the
widow was joined, or should have been joined, in the action
by her second husband. Sometimes (e.g. 272, 498) the claim
was for a third of a number of small estates, apparently a free

7.  Close Rolls, 1237-42, p. 350.
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peasant’s holding, but in one case (428) Eve de Gray, a
member of a major Oxfordshire family, claimed a third of
the advowson of Deddington church, a fishpond, a yardland,
and a mill against William de Dive, another important
Oxfordshire landholder. In most cases the defendant failed to
appear and the land was taken into the king’s hand until the
dispute could be settled; in others the plaintiff recovered her
seisin. In a Warwickshire case (484) the defendant argued
that he held the land in villeinage and hence could not answer
a claim in a royal court; in another case (704), concerning
land in Drayton St. Leonard, a similar defence failed. In
three Oxfordshire cases (555, 618, 627) the defendant argued
that the claimant had not been legally married and the case
was adjourned until the bishop of Lincoln had ruled on the
validity of the marriage. In another three cases (566, 608,
690) the defendant argued that the plaintiff’s husband had
not held the land so freely that he could dower her with it, in
one case claiming that he had held only for a term of years.
Another defendant (716) claimed that, with her consent, the
plaintiff’s husband had mortgaged the house claimed in the
Oxford Jewry ‘for their common necessities’.

The next commonest action after dower was ‘land’ (61
cases), a vague term which probably covered mainly actions
of mort dancestor and novel disseisin, the two next
commonest actions, 60 and 52 cases respectively. Both were
-possessory assizes, quick forms of action introduced under
Henry II to determine possession as opposed to right in land.
In the assize of mort dancestor the claimant claimed that his
ancestor had been seised of the land on the day that he died,
and that he was his nearest heir; to fall within the assize the
ancestor had to have died since the last return of King John
from Ireland in 1210. One plea (581) failed because the
ancestor had died before 1210. Most pleas, a total of 19, were
for the death of a father; four people claimed on the death of
an uncle, two each on the death of a mother and a brother,
and one on the death of an aunt. In one case (399) the
claimant claimed not for his father’s death but for his
departure for Jerusalem, from where he had not returned. In
only four cases did the plaintiff recover his seisin, in another
four an agreement was reached. Of those who failed, two
sisters claiming land in Adderbury (303) claimed for the
death of their father when they should have claimed for the
death of their brother who had succeeded him; a man who
claimed land in Churchill on his uncle’s death (644) had to
admit that his uncle had had a son who had inherited the
land; two cousins failed in their claim for land in Shiplake
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(702) because they had stated that the previous holder was
their uncle whereas he was the uncle of one and grandfather
of the other. In a plea over land in Walcot (393), two of the
defendants alleged that the claimant was a bastard, but he
lost because he had to admit that his mother held the land in
dower. v

In the assize of novel disseisin the claimant claimed that he
had himself been in seisin of the land before he was disseised.
To ensure that the disseisin was recent, it had to have taken
place since the crossing of Henry III to Brittany in 1230. The
writ did not run on the ancient demesne of the crown (485)
because a similar process was available in the manor court to
tenants on ancient demesne. Two pleas of novel disseisin on
the Oxfordshire roll contain interesting economic or legal
information. When Roger de Hide (459) claimed that the
former abbot of Eynsham had disseised him of his pasture
rights in South Stoke and Woodcote the jury reported that an
earlier abbot had divided his lands into three parts instead of
two, i.e. had changed from a two-field to a three-field
system, thus reducing the amount of land on which Roger
had common. Roger, however, lost his case for naming the
wrong abbot. The pleading in a dispute (712) between two
prominent Oxford citizens, Peter son of Thorold and John of
Bridport, over a house and land in Oxford describes in detail
the earlier pleading in the Oxford borough court. In all,
fourteen of the claimants who brought an assize of novel
disseisin recovered their land; the 29 who reached agreements
over ‘land’ had probably proceeded by an assize of novel
disseisin.

An action of right, or de recto, unlike the possessory
assizes of mort dancestor and novel disseisin just discussed,
decided the right to rather than the simple possession of the
land. There are 59 actions on the Oxfordshire roll. Like the
assize of mort dancestor they are concerned with the descent
of land, but through many more generations. Some pleas
(e.g. nos. 326, 353) describe the descent of land for three
generations, not always directly. Richard son of Robert (353)
described how 5 a. in Leicestershire had descended from his
great grandfather to two of his great uncles and their children
before reverting to his grandfather, from whom the land
passed to his father and himself. Another plea (367) gives the
descent of the Oxfordshire manor of Deddington from
William de Chesney in the time of Henry II to William de
Dive, who in 1241 claimed it from Ralph Hareng whose wife
also claimed descent from William de Chesney. In the course
of the plea Ralph and his wife Alice produced a charter of
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Henry II to Alice’s father Ralph Murdac, and the text of the
charter was copied onto the roll. In one case (326) a duel was
ordered, but before it was fought an agreement was reached.
Four cases (414, 419, 635, 682) were to be decided by the
grand assize, a special jury of 12 knights. One attempt to use
the grand assize (442) failed because the land claimed was in
Banbury which was said to be ancient demesne of the crown
(although Banbury had belonged to the bishops of Lincoln
and their predecessors the bishops of Dorchester since before
the Norman Conquest) and the grand assize did not lie on
ancient demesne.

The next most common action, of which there are 54
examples on the Oxfordshire roll, is the personal action of
warranty of charter in which the claimant, whose right to
land bought from the defendant had been challenged, called
on the defendant to warrant him, that is to prove his right to
the land or else to compensate him with land of equal value.
One plea (746) failed because the defendants had no land
with which to warrant the claimant. In 12 cases the plaintiff
did not prosecute, in two an agreement was made, and in 6
the defendants did not appear.

Three other actions have over 20 cases each, there are 29
actions of entry, 27 of debt, and 26 of custom and service. In
the action of entry the claimant claimed that the defendant or
his predecessor had only had entry into an estate through
someone who had no legal right to give him a title to it. The
commonest claim was that the entry had been made by a
termor (or lessee) whose term or interest in the land had
expired. Some such claims (e.g. 340) turned on whether or
not the land had been granted for a term or in fee. The
pleading, like that in actions of right, could include details of
the descent of land. Another common claim, made by
widows, was that entry had been made through a husband,
whom in his lifetime she could not deny (270, 583, 604, 745).
In another four cases (717, 739, 749, 752) entry had been
made through the guardian of a minor. In one case (482) it
was claimed that the defendant had had entry through a man
who held in villeinage.

Most of the pleas of debt are brief. The largest sum owed
was £60 4s. 10d. (666), but no details are given on the roll.
Hubert de Ruylli’s debt of 64 marks owed to Isabel de
Bolbec, countess of Oxford, (433) was part of the price of a
lucrative wardship. One of the justices, Roger of Thirkleby,
brought a plea against 27 men for £20 (403), perhaps unpaid
rents. In addition to the pleas of debt, there was one
acknowledgement of payment of a debt for arrears of
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rent (350), and 6 enrolments of recognisances of debt whereby
the debtor acknowledged his indebtedness and undertook to
repay, usually by instalments.

Pleas of custom and service, in which the lord claimed
services or customary payments from land held of him,
sometimes give details of such services. Thomas Greasley
(443), for instance, claimed ploughing service of 1 acre for
winter sowing and one day’s reaping service in harvest for
land in Golder. Robert Purcel in Bainton (534) claimed 7s. in
money and two harvest services, and also required his tenant
to come, with his wife, to his house at Christmas with four
loaves of bread, six hens, and six gallons of ale, and to eat
with him there.

The conclusion of many civil pleas is not given on the roll.
Often the plea was adjourned until one or other party
appeared, or for the result of a view of the disputed land to
be made known, or for information to be given by the sheriff
of the county involved, or sometimes by the bishop if such
ecclesiastical matters as the validity of a marriage were
involved. Other pleas ended with one or other party being
found to be in the wrong and being amerced. Yet others
ended in agreement, for which a licence had to be obtained,
for a fee. These agreements were in the form of fines, final
concords, a copy of which, the ‘foot’ of the fine, was
enrolled among the records of the court. In all 76 concords
were made in the Oxfordshire eyre, but not all of them
survive.

On the crown pleas side, the justices were commissioned to
hear all the crown pleas which had arisen since the last eyre,
that is since 1235. Most of the crown pleas were based on the
answers provided by panels of jurors, 12 from each hundred
or borough, to a series of articles given them by the justices.®
Both the articles and the juries’ answers, their veredicta or
presentments, were given in writing. The articles covered not
only ‘criminal’ cases, such as homicide, unexplained deaths,
and robberies, but infringements of royal rights, such as
encroachments on highways and breaches of the assizes of
cloth and of wine. Juries also gave information about royal
escheats and serjeanties, and about ladies and churches in the
king’s gift. One special article in the 1239-41 eyre concerned
the ‘land of Normans’, that is lands in England forfeited by
men who had remained in Normandy after its loss by King
John in 1204. Henry III still hoped to recover Normandy,
and needed to know which English lands might then be

8. For the articles see Crown Pleas of the Wilts. Eyre, pp. 28-33.
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claimed by Normans. The Oxfordshire jurors reported only
three ‘lands of Normans’: Kirtlington worth £20 a year (803),
Lillingstone worth £5 (806), and Chinnor and Sydenham,
held by the earl of Winchester and worth £25 (891).

Ladies and churches in the king’s gift were potential
sources of revenue or of reward for faithful servants. Two of
the three heiresses in the king’s gift in 1241 (799) were Joan
and Alexandra, the daughters of Robert Arsic and heirs to an
important Oxfordshire barony. The jury reported that
Alexandra had married, presumably with the king’s consent,
Thomas de Haya, but Joan had married the Oxford burgess
Stephen Simeon without permission, so her land was to be
taken into the king’s hand.

Sixteen serjeanties were reported. Three involved personal
service to the king, carrying the spit for his dinner (802),
giving him water when he came to Cornbury (1019), and
yielding him a napkin each year (811). The last had given its
holder the surname Napper. One of the five household
serjeanties had also given rise to a surname, Roger de
Scaccario held land in Aston Rowant by serjeanty of being
usher at the Exchequer (892). Others held by being the king’s
doorkeeper (871, 873, 929) and being steward of the king’s
household (1018). Four men held by serjeanty of keeping or
raising falcons or a goshawk for the king (860, 880, 930, 931),
and one by serjeanty of collecting ivy for the king’s deer in
winter and of mowing and hay-making in a meadow (860).
One of the military serjeanties was that of carrying the
pennon before the men of Wootton hundred in the king’s
army for 40 days (881).

In addition to answering the articles, juries were asked by
the justices to provide secretly or ‘privately’ a list of the men
in each hundred who were suspected of murder, theft,
robbery, receiving thieves, counterfeiting the coinage, oOr
arson. Men thus indicted were then arrested and produced
for trial at the eyre. Finally, a criminal case could be brought
by the process of an appeal in which a private individual
accused another of a crime, usually breach of the peace and
wounding, although the spouse or other family of a
murdered man could appeal someone of his murder. As with
the civil pleas there were strict rules, and an appeal could fail
because the appellor failed to state that he was willing to
prove his appeal on his body, i.e. by duel, or because he
changed the wording of his appeal or (if wounding was
claimed) because he failed to show his fresh wounds to the
coroner.

Homicide (60 cases) was one of the commonest crimes
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alleged, usually in the juries’ presentments. Many were said
to be the work of unknown evildoers; others, like the killing
of Master Vincent Cornwall the former Oxford scholar at
the house of Alice of Hackney in Benson (827), look like
murder. Some killings were the result of disputes, like the
killing of Peter Foster by one of three clerks, perhaps Oxford
scholars, who were walking through Slape, near Glympton
(841). An argument broke out between one of the clerks and
Peter, and the clerk killed Peter with an axe. Some Killings
were accidental, like that at Ewelme when Andrew le Sopere
threw a stick at a hen and hit and killed a boy instead (832).
One death, that of the young son of the chaplain of Taynton,
resulted from a severe punishment which went tragically
wrong (1006). Perhaps the most unusual case was that of
Ellis, Maud de Gurnay’s doorkeeper (787) who was alleged to
have been killed; three men and a woman fled and were
outlawed, but at the eyre Ellis appeared alive, so all four were
allowed to return.

The term murder in the 13th century still referred to the
fine exacted from the vill or hundred in which a body was
found, unless Englishry was presented, i.e. the victim was
shown to have been English rather than Norman. Englishry
was presented once in the 1241 Oxfordshire eyre (909); in 20
other cases the fine was exacted, even though in a few cases
the coroner’s verdict was misadventure.

In cases of accidental death the object which caused the
death was ‘deodand’, given to the church or the poor. This
was a survival of the primitive notion that the inanimate
object was somehow responsible for the death. Deodands
reported in 1241 included the wall of a house (1036), an oak
which no one would buy (857), a piece of glass (911), and a
calf which dragged to death a small boy who had fastened his
belt to its tail (824), as well as the more usual horses, carts,
boats, and mill wheels. The sheriff was responsible for
producing the deodand, or rather its value in money, before
the justices. He was also responsible for producing the goods,
or their value, forfeited by felons who had been hanged or
who had taken sanctuary in a church and then abjured the
realm.

Theft (32 cases) was the most common crime after
homicide. Goods stolen included horses (923) sheep (797,
842, 914, 923, 945, 952), lambs (855), pigs (868), fish (950),
malt (900), a tunic (794), cloth (816), leather (1003), wax
from Deddington church (817), and a tree trunk (964).

Breach of the peace was alleged 17 times; and ‘force’ 4
times, always in an appeal and often with robbery. In one
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case (861) ‘breaking’ the lord’s fishpond was deemed a
breach of the peace. In a more typical case, Sampson the
tailor of Henley (793) was accused of entering Geoffrey son
of Philip’s house in Henley, wounding him on the head with
a stick and on the upper arm with a dagger and stealing
134d. and a silver button in a leather purse. In an affray at
Duns Tew (875-7) Robert le May and Hugh the priest and
two others wounded Reynold the servant of Hugh of Tew
with an axe and a dagger and stole 32d. of Hugh’s money. A
somewhat similar case which was not said to be breach of the
peace, occurred in Oxford in 1235 (1048) when Adam
Feteplace, a leading Oxford merchant who was several times
mayor of the town, attacked Henry le Ferur in his own house;
Henry claimed that Adam had stolen a gold ring, but the jury
said that he had only hit him and thrown a cup of ale in his
face.

Most of those accused of these and other crimes did not
appear before the justices; 63 of them had fled, and hence
were ordered to be outlawed. Another 26 had taken
sanctuary in a church and then abjured the realm. Those who
did appear to stand trial stood a good chance of being
acquitted: 32 crown pleas ended in an acquittal, compared
with 3 hangings.

The final element in the roll, taken from JUST 1/696, is
the amercement roll, the list of people amerced or fined in the
eyre. Matthew Paris, describing the 1240-1 eyre said that the
justices, going through and looking into all the counties in
England corrected many excesses, and on the pretext of
justice collected an infinite amount of money for the king.®
Certainly all medieval justice was profitable to the lord of the
court, and the king’s justice was no exception. Amercements
(marked by the marginal note in mercy) were levied on most
of those involved in civil pleas, for failure to prosecute, for
collusion in reaching an agreement, for failing to produce the
man for whom they were sureties. In addition fines were
offered for permission to reach an agreement, or to have a
view or inquisition into the land in dispute. As has already
been mentioned, the crown pleas produced money from
felons’ goods, as well as amercements for concealment of
pleas or for non prosecution.

9. Matthew Paris, Chronica Majora (Rolls Ser.), iv, p. 34.



EDITORIAL NOTE

Of the two rolls from the Oxfordshire eyre of 1241 which
survive in the Public Record Office JUST 1/695 is the main
roll, compiled for William of York. JUST 1/696, compiled
for one of the other justices, is scrappier, often omitting the
last sentence of cases where a note has been made in JUST
1/695 about later developments. There are considerable
differences between the two rolls, notably in the order of the
pleas; the following calendar is based on JUST 1/695, variant
readings from JUST 1/696 being given in pointed brackets,
< >. Slight variations in spelling of names have not been
noticed.

JUST 1/695 starts with the essoins (mm. 1-2), and
continues with the civil pleas for the county, including
foreign pleas (mm. 3-17), and the civil pleas of the vill of
Oxford (mm. 18-19), whose burgesses enjoyed the privilege
of not having to answer for their freeholds outside the
borough. The kalendar, or list of jurors for the crown pleas,
is on m. 20, and the crown pleas on mm. 21-26. JUST 1/696
begins (mm. 1-2) with the list of amercements, crown and
civil, which does not survive on JUST 1/695. It continues
with the essoins (mm. 3-5), and then with the crown pleas
(mm. 6-11), ending with the civil pleas for the county (mm.
13d.-24) and for the vill of Oxford (mm. 25-6).

The crown pleas were entered in the same order on both
rolls, but the order of the civil pleas is so different that no
attempt has been made to notice it in the calendar. For
instance, the first membrane of civil pleas in JUST 1/696,
m.13d., has no heading, and contains the pleas numbered
(from JUST 1/695) 261-4, 284-7, 302-3, 315-20, 325; m. 14
continues with 326-31, 275, 338, 332-3, 335, 338, 376-9, 403,
406, 381-4, 365. Moreover, JUST 1/696 omits the ends of
some pleas, and contains more blank spaces for details of
pleas which were not completed than does JUST 1/695. To
save space and printing costs these discrepancies have not
been noted in the calendar.

The pleas have been translated and abbreviated on the lines
of C.A.F. Meekings’ and M.T. Clanchy’s calendars of the
Wiltshire eyre. (The calendar of the Surrey eyre did not
appear until the present calendar was well advanced.) The
spelling of personal names and place names has been
modernised wherever possible. Where a place name cannot
be identified the spelling of the original has been retained,
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placed in inverted commas. Latin personal names (including
surnames) have been translated except in the rare instances
where the translation is uncertain. For convenience the list of
English equivalents of Latin forenames in the Victoria
County History Handbook for Authors and Editors has been
used. Place names used as surnames have been modernised
where the identification seems reasonably clear, and in those
cases ‘de’ has been translated ‘of’. Where the identification is
not clear the name has been left in the form on the roll and
‘de’ has been left untranslated.

The Curia Regis Rolls xvi has been searched for references
to any pleas which appear on the Oxfordshire eyre rolls, but
otherwise additional information has been supplied only for
Oxfordshire cases.

Some extracts from some of the civil pleas from the
Oxfordshire eyre were printed (in Latin) in Abbreviatio
Rotuli Placitorum (Record Commission), 115-18; the
spelling of names is sometimes inaccurate, and as there is no
reason to suppose the rolls have deteriorated since the early
19th century the Record Commission version has been
ignored. References have been given to the Bedfordshire
cases printed in Bedfordshire Historical Record Society, vol.
ix, and to the Somerset cases printed in Somerset Pleas
(Somerset Record Society, vol. xi).

The following editorial conventions have been used:

L T s o sremmemenss « o nisiiimiinian s § smiamaman s 4 ¢ s wmpnins editorial insertion
() s 5 s s 5 S AES 3 8 8 ¥ p s s o 4B IHTRH interlineation
> e reading from JUST 1/696
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m. 1]

Essoins ‘de malo veniendi’ taken at Oxford 15 days after Easter [Monday
15 April] 1241 before William of York, provost of Beverley, and his
fellow justices

1 Ellis Nuncius essoins Roger of Essex against Cecily widow of Gilbert
Marshall; assize to Canterbury, octave of Trinity. Same day given to
Richard Clerk of Grendon, William Gulie the earl marshall’s attorney,
by the king’s writ. !

2 Norfolk. Roger de Wesenham essoins Hugh d’Aubeney earl of
Arundel, Richard of Docking his attorney, against Roger de Mortimer;
to levy chirograph; morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth; Robert of
Boyland surety.

3 Hunts. Geoffrey Spink <Spring> essoins John son of Gregory
against Richard son of Simon; assize one month after Easter. New writ.
See no. 656

4 Wilts. Thomas son of Nicholas essoins Master Ralph of Lacock
against Richard Mauclerk; plea of prohibition [to court Christian]; to the
arrival of the next assize justices. New writ.

5 Gloucs. Simon de Banerstan essoins Robert de Gurnay against Hugh
le Bulor; plea of debt; to the arrival of the next justices.
New case.

6 Essex. Reynold son of William essoins Henry of Necton and Joan his
wife, John de Welwes their attorney, against Alice widow of Hugh de
Marmes <Maruns>; plea of dower; morrow of Ascension Day at
Lambeth. O/d case.

7 Suffolk. Hugh de Culum essoins Robert of Brampton against Parnel
of Brampton; plea of debt; assize to Oxford one month after Easter. Old
case.

8 Herts. Nicholas of Sawston < Walter of Stanstead-crossed out>
essoins Peter de Maune, Robert Marsh his attorney, against Thomas of
Whitchurch. Elsewhere.

Cf. no. 341.

Entry crossed out.

9 Essex < Herts.> Walter of Stratford < Strafford> essoins the same
Robert against Walter of Hempnall and others named in the writ.

Cf. no. 342.

Entry crossed out.

10 Richard son of John essoins the same Robert against Ralph Gubum.
Cf. no. 341.
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11 Norfolk. Benet of Dilham essoins Christine St. Owen against
Hubert Hacun; detinue of charters; to Lambeth, Sunday after Ascension
Day. Hubert did not come, as appears below. New case.

See no. 320.

12 Essex. Ralph son of Roger essoins Gilbert the earl marshall, Gilbert
of Hampstead his attorney, against Giles of Erdington; assize of mort
dancestor; to Lambeth, morrow of Ascension Day; Thomas of Ramsden
surety. John son of Lefrich essoins the same earl marshall, William de
Pinkeney his attorney, against the same Giles at the same term, the same
surety. None of the recognitors has come, so the sheriff is to have them
[at Lambeth]. Old case from the eyre.

13 Essex. Stephen son of Walter essoins William de Ferrers, Anselm
Clerk his attorney, against Maurice Rydel; warranty of charter; to the
arrival of the next assize justices. Old case.

14 Norfolk. William son of Ralph essoins Agnes of Ryburgh against
Sabine widow of Ralph the reeve; he has pledged his faith. New case.

15 William Spicer essoins Hugh Foster against the same Sabine; assize.

16 Robert son of Philip essoins Robert of Testerton; Hamon of Gateley
essoins Elviva, widow, against the same Sabine; he has pledged his faith.

17 Richard son of William essoins Ralph Skye <Sokye> against the
same Sabine; Roger son of William < Ralph son of Thomas> essoins
William son of Ralph; Ralph son of Thomas essoins Thomas of Risby;
assize to Lambeth, Surrey, morrow of Ascension Day.

Others in the writ.

18 Cumb. Michael Ruter essoins William of Ireby against Thomas of
Hoton <Horton> and Mariota his wife; plea of prohibition [to court
Christian]; to the arrival of the next justices in Cumberland. New case.

19 Sussex. Gilbert <altered from William > son of William essoins the
prior of Arundel against William of Billingshurst; darrein presentment;
to the arrival of the next assize justices. Same day given to all the
recognitors who came. New case.

20 Cambs. Stephen son of Alexander essoins Richard de Amundevill
against Richard de Amundevill.

21 Northants. Thomas son of William essoins John de Balliol against
Robert son of Richard; plea of debt; John son of Osbert essoins
Devorguilla, John’s wife.

22 Berks. Henry le Enfant essoins Isabel de Mortimer against Robert
de Shortcumbe < Thortecumbe>; plea of waste; morrow of Ascension
Day at Lambeth. John de Planat, surety. New case.

See no. 513.
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23 Warws. Richard son of Robert essoins the abbot of Reading against
Nicola widow of Simon Bagot <Bagod > ; plea of dower.

24 Herefs. Robert son of Richard essoins Stephen, dean of Hereford,
against Henry Rufus; plea of advowson; to the arrival of the next assize
justices. New case.

See no. 259.

25 Berks. William of St. German essoins Fulk FitzWarin against
Robert advocate of Bethune; morrow of Ascension Day. New case.

26 Thomas son of Henry essoins Alan FitzZWarin against the same;
same plea; morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth.

27 Berks. Hugh of Glympton essoins Roger de Mohun against William
the Fleming; plea of warranty of charter. Richard le Newman essoins the
same William against the same Roger; same plea. To the arrival of the
next assize justices. New case.

28 Herefs. Ralph de Hamme essoins William of Bath against Maud
widow of Walter de Hamme; plea of dower; to the arrival of the assize
justices at Hereford. New case; others in the writ.

Cf. no. 284.

30 Bucks. Henry Pyefot <Duford> essoins Bencelina widow of
Ingenolf against Richard de Tytebury; octave of Trinity at Canterbury.
New writ.

31 John de Mentmare essoins Roger Breyn against the same; same plea.
William of Helpston essoins Gillian wife of the same John [sic]; same
plea.

32 Essex. William le Waleis essoins John of Crofton; same plea.
Richard de Bereford essoins Emma wife of the same John; same plea.

33 Gloucs. <Wilts.> Henry of Wheatley <de Chatel’> essoins
Olympias widow of Ralph of Wilton against William Francchevaler; ‘de
fine facto’; to the arrival of the assize justices. John Bangeriant essoins
the same William against the same Olympias; same plea. New case.

34 Essex. Stephen son of Henry essoins John del Brok against Henry
Balliol and Laura his wife, Peter de Maune and Christine his wife, David
Cumin and Isabel his wife; Sunday after Ascension Day at Lambeth. Old
case.

Cf. no. 341.

Cf. Cur. Reg. R. xvi, nos. 1316, 1514.

35 Thomas son of William essoins Richard son of Walter against the
same; same plea. William son of Fulk essoins Thomas of Whitchurch.
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36 Nicholas of Sawston essoins Peter de Maune, Robert Marsh his
attorney, against the same; Henry of Holywell surety.

37 Berks. Robert <Thomas> son of Geoffrey essoins Alice wife of
Peter Fareman <Freman> against Simon Serle and Agnes his wife,
Jocelin of Bedwyn and Cecily his wife; to the arrival of the assize
justices. New case.

38 Northants. Ralph son of Richard essoins Maud Malet against Roger
of Duston and Muriel his wife and Aline, Muriel’s sister; octave of
Trinity at Canterbury. <Same day given to Roger and Muriel in the
Bench. > New case.

39 Herefs. Nicholas le Ireis essoins Ralph of St. Briavels against Eve
widow of Thomas de Frayn; plea of dower; to the arrival of the next
assize justices. New case.

Cf. no. 272.

40 Hants. Robert of West Dean essoins Mabel de Scotigny; same plea;
morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth. New case < Others in the writ>.

41 Herefs. Orgenew of Clun or Richard Danvers essoins Ralph de
Mortimer; John of Ludlow or Richard Danvers essoins Wladusa Ralph’s
wife; Robert of Ledbury or Richard Danvers essoins Henry de Mortimer;
Gilbert of Clun essoins Eve, Henry’s wife. Others in the writ.

42 Philip of Ledbury essoins Philip le Bret; Roger Nuncius essoins the
abbot of Wigmore; Philip son of Robert essoins Gernos le Secular.

43 John son of John essoins John of Lingen; William son of Henry
essoins Thomas the chaplain; Hugh his brother essoins Rannulf brother
of the same Thomas; William of Upton essoins John Esturmy; Richard
son of Geoffrey essoins Walter of Avenbury; Richard Page essoins
Simon of Oddington. Eve appoints Richard le Aw her attorney against
Mabel de Scotigny. Ralph de Mamme essoins Ralph the clerk. To the
next coming of the assize justices.

[Nos. 41-3 have been squashed into a blank space at the end of the
membrane; it is not clear how the individual entries are related to each
other.]

44 Herefs. Robert de Bruges essoins Richard son of Richard against
Laria of Bromfield; plea of dower; to the next coming of the assize
justices to Hereford.

45 Herefs. Reynold of Marcle essoins Henry le Waleis against Isabel of
Hope; plea of dower; to the next arrival of the assize justices.

46 Richard of Marcle essoins William le Blund; same plea; to the
arrival of the next assize justices at Hereford.
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m. 1d.]

47 Northants. Richard of Astcote essoins the prior of the Hospitallers
in England, who is in the Holy Land, against Beatrice widow of Nicholas
Malesmayns; plea of dower; three weeks after Easter 1242 at
Westminster. New case.

Cf. nos. 360-2.

48 Thomas son of Cecily essoins Brother Robert de Dive; same plea;
octave of Trinity at Canterbury.
Cf. nos. 360-2.

49 Northants. Walter son of Richard essoins William de Albemarle
<Aubmace> against Ralph Basset and Geoffrey of Appleby; plea of
debt; 15 days after Trinity at Canterbury < Sunday after Ascension Day
at Lambeth>; Matthew of Wootton surety. New case by writ pone;
others in the writ.

50 William son of Hugh essoins Christine wife of the same against the
same; same plea; to the same term by the same surety.

51 Bucks. Richard de Argentom essoins Roger de Wimbervill against
Nicholas del Brok and Emma his wife and Philip of Leighton and Emma
his wife. Afterwards they came.

See nos. 264, 340.

Entry crossed out.

52 Essex. Saer son of Edward essoins Peter son of Andrew against the
prior of Prittlewell; assize morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth.
Afterwards a view.

33 Norfolk. Simon of Castle Acre essoins the prior of Castle Acre,
Roger of Gayton his attorney, against Robert son of Humphrey and
Thomas his brother; to the arrival of the next assize justices. Old case.

54 Herts. John son of Hugh essoins Matthew Leyham, Matthew of
Marston his attorney, against Ralph de Beseville; assize morrow of
Ascension Day at Lambeth.

S5 Same day given to William de Roffa whom Matthew Leyham called
to warranty, at the Bench; William Martel his attorney.
Old case.

56 Northants. William son of Roger essoins Philip son of Alard against
William son of Reynold; assize Sunday after Ascension Day at Lambeth.
Cf. no. 352.

§7 William of Warden essoins Hugh son of John against the same; to
the same term. New case by writ pone; many in the writ.
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58 Salop. Richard son of Edith essoins Philip of Stanton against
Wwilliam Marsh and Sybil his wife; plea of dower; assize Sunday after
Ascension Day at Lambeth; William her husband attorns Sybil. New
case.

59 Kent. John the Black essoins William de Say against Robert Hardel;
plea of debt; to the arrival of the next assize justices. New writ.
See no. 666.

60 Northants. Walter son of Adam essoins Robert de Braybeouf
against Robert advocate of Bethune; <assize morrow of Ascension Day
at Lambeth >. New writ.

61 Norfolk. William son of Richard essoins John Marshal against the
same; assize morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth. New writ.

62 Hunts. William son of William essoins Julian de Haya, whom
Master Reynold of Bath called to warranty, against Adam of Weston
and Parnel his wife and Michael of Berkhampstead and Senicla his wife;
plea of estovers; assize Thursday next after the quindene of Easter at
Oxford. Fulk son of Martin essoins Adam of Weston, attorney of Parnel
his wife, against the same. Old case.

See nos. 302, 667-8, 743.

63 Devon. Thomas of Pagham essoins Alice de Hewisse <Haywise>
against William de Hewisse < Haywise >; plea of waste; assize morrow
of Ascension Day at Lambeth. New case.

64 Suffolk. Peter of Dean essoins Roger of London against Beatrice
widow of Nicholas Malesmayns; plea of dower; to Lambeth, morrow of
Ascension Day. New case.

Cf. nos. 47, 360-2.

65 Essex. Nicholas son of Jordan essoins Humphrey de Bohun earl of
Hereford, Michael de Cheldynton < Chelington> his attorney, whom
John de Berners called to warranty, against Cecily Berners; plea of
wardship; to Canterbury, octave of Trinity. Same day given to John de
Berners by his attorney in the Bench. Old case.

Cf. no. 379.

66 Wilts. Richard Doget <Doket> essoins Warin FitzGerald against
Willliam of Durnford; plea of covenant; to Canterbury one week after
Trinity. William did not come, as appears in the pleas. New case.

See no. 370.

67 Northants. Robert son of Aer essoins Philip Iwayn against Christine
daughter of Ralph; assize one month after Easter. New case by writ
pone.

See no. 701.
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68 Suffolk. Peter son of Bernard essoins the prior of Brissete against
Olive de Frayn; warranty of charter; morrow of Ascension Day at
Lambeth. New case.

See no. 169.

69 Berks. Niel son of Alexander essoins Walter de Becote < Brecote>
against the prior of Noyon; plea of custom and service; one month after
Easter at Oxford. New case.

See no. 577.

70 Yorks. William le Sage essoins Walter de Hemmington against
Richard de Gaham; warranty of charter. He came, not having a writ or
claiming <holding >, so let the essoin be void as he came. Walter le Fol
essoins Joan his wife against the same; same plea.
New writ.

See nos. 421, 474.

71 Robert son of Ralph essoins John de Baynhal, Thomas, Richard,
and Henry his brothers, Thomas de Mare attorney, against William de
St. Leger; assize one month after Easter. Same day given to William,
whom each called to warranty, by his attorney, and to all the recognitors.
Old case.

See no. 235.

72  Surrey. Geoffrey son of Adam essoins Walter of Whitworth against
John de Fay; warranty of charter; morrow of Ascension Day at
Lambeth. Old case.

Essoins ‘de malo lecti’ taken at Oxford 15 days after Easter [Monday 15
April]

73 Oxon. Thomas of Monmouth and Reynold son of Ashild
< Achilles> essoin Alice wife of Stephen Bodin at Caulcott against
Stephen of Fritwell; to one month after Easter.

See no. 576.

Essoins ‘de malo veniendi’ for the same county at the same term

74 Oxon. Simon son of John essoins John de Curry against Stephen of
Fritwell; to one month after Easter. New case.
See no. 660

75 Oxon. Henry son of Robert essoins Matthew archdeacon of
Buckingham, who is overseas, against Robert Wandard; assize mort
dancestor; to 15 days after Trinity at Canterbury; the jurors are to
remain at home until they have other orders. New case. [Last sentence
added later]
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76 Oxon. William of Weston essoins the abbot of Oseney against
William Puignant; plea of pasture <land>; assize one month after
Easter. New case.

See nos. 422-3.

77 Walter of Oseney essoins the same abbot against Peter Bukerel and
Maud his wife; warranty of charter; assize one month after Easter. New
case.

See nos. 344, 589.

78 Robert Pete essoins the same Peter against the same abbot; Nicholas
Fifield essoins Maud his wife against the same; same plea; both assizes to
one month after Easter.

See nos. 344, 589.

79 Oxon. Walter of Adderbury essoins the abbot of Cirencester against
William of Stafford; plea of covenant. New case.

80 Oxon. Robert Tirel essoins Ralph son of Ralph son of Nicholas,
who is overseas, against Henry Pipard; assize of mort dancestor. John
< Nicholas> Pigacce essoins Ralph’s wife Alice; same plea. New case;
others in writ.

81 Oxon. Walter Cook essoins the prior of Cogges against William
Miller of Fringford; warranty of charter; afterwards he came. New case.
See no. 635.
Entry crossed out.

82 Andrew of Iffley essoins Warin FitzGerald against Geoffrey Pek;
warranty of charter. Ralph son of Richard essoins Alice, Warin’s wife;
same plea. Assize one month after Easter. New case.

Cf. nos. 418, 611-12.

83 Oxon. John <Nicholas> son of Gilbert essoins Margery de Rivers
against Ralph de Briausne; assize mort dancestor; morrow of Ascension
Day at Lambeth; John son of Gilbert de Lahull essoins the claimant.
New case.

See Oxon. Fines, 118.

84 Thomas son of Richard essoins Aline, wife of William of Hardwick
against the same; same plea; to same term. Same day given to William,
Aline’s husband, in the Bench. Others in writ.

See no. 698.

85 Oxon. Geoffrey son of Philip essoins Robert Braunt against Hugh
son of Rannulf; assize mort dancestor. New case.

86 Oxon. William Blund essoins Nicholas of Wallingford against
Emma daughter of Roger Prudhomme; assize one month after Easter.
New case.
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87 Oxon. Henry de Bulchegh essoins Reynold of Whitchurch (he has a
wife, Alice) against Thomas de Valoynes and Joan his wife; (assize mort
dancestor <land>); one month after Easter. Same day given to
Reynold’s wife Alice, by her attorney, in the Bench. New case.

See nos. 229, 245, 680.

88 John of Drayton <Bratton> essoins Eustace of Arden against
Idony of Bodicote; assize one month after Easter. New case.
See nos. 604-5.

89 Oxon. Roger of Cowley essoins the master of the Templars in
England, John of Cowley his attorney by the king’s writ, against Richard
son of Henry; to Lambeth the Sunday after Ascension Day at the plea of
the parties. New case by writ pone.

m.2]

90 Oxon. Thomas of Billing essoins Robert son of Ralph <Reynold >
against William de Mohun <Morbun > ; assize one month after Easter
at Oxford. New writ.

See no. 707.

91 Oxon. Hugh son of Grim essoins Roger Gernun against Ralph
Hareng; assize one month after Easter. New case by writ pone.
See no. 198.

92 Gregory son of Nicholas essoins the same Ralph against the same;
he has pledged his faith.
See no. 198.

93 Oxon. Henry of Haseley essoins William of Hurstbourne against
Richard Danvers; (assize mort dancestor <land>). New case.
See no. 617.

94 Richard of Kirtlington essoins Sarah, William’s wife; same plea;
assize one month after Easter.

95 Oxon. Robert son of John essoins Hugh de Druval against the abbot
of Eynsham; wager of law. Old case from the bench; the abbot has died.
Entry crossed out.

96 Walter of Bampton essoins Hugh of Arden against Robert de
Ayton; assize mort dancestor; to one month after Easter. New case.
See no. 703.

97 John of Kencot <Kennington> essoins Simon son of Ives against
the same.

98 Henry of Kennington essoins Julian of Langford against the same;
same plea.
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99 Oxon. Hugh of Barford essoins Thomas earl of Warwick against
Master Walter of Prescote; plea of rent <debt>. Afterwards the earl
came. New case.

See no. 280.

Entry crossed out.

100 Oxon. John Pyrun essoins the master of the Templars in England
against Fulk son of William <FitzWarin>; assize one month after
Easter. New case.

See no. 598.

101 Oxon. William son of Roger essoins the prior of Bicester against
Eve de Gray. New case by writ pone.

102 Oxon. Hugh son of William essoins Ralph Hareng, whom Nicholas
of Haversham called to warranty, against John le Brun; assize one
month after Easter. Same day to Nicholas of Haversham in the Bench.
Nicholas appoints Nicholas of Grimstead his attorney. New case.

See nos. 201, 480.

103 Oxon. Robert son of William essoins James le Sauvage against
Alice widow of Walter Monk; assize one month after Easter. New case.

104 Oxon. Geoffrey son of Ellis essoins Beatrice Murdac against
Robert le Canceis; assize one month after Easter. New case.
See nos. 642, 695.

105 Oxon. Walter of Wilby essoins Simon < Agnes> de Abbrintis
against James le Sauvage; plea of quo iure; assize one month after
Easter. Same James against the same about the same. New case.

See no. 657.

106 Oxon. Ralph de Brunland essoins Joan wife of the same Simon
< James> against the same; same plea; assize on same day. Robert de
Persham or Ralph of Missenden is Simon and Joan’s attorney by the
king’s writ. Others in the writ.

107 Robert le Squire essoins William of Langley against Marsilia of
Charlbury; plea of dower; assize one month after Easter. New case;
others in the writ.

See no. 618.

108 John de Wychecumb essoins Michael <Matthew > of Dunthrop
against the abbot of Bruern; plea of warranty of charter. New case.

109 Walter of Shipton essoins Thomas son of Anketil against the same;
same plea. New writ.
See no. 281.

110 John of Thrupp essoins Robert Bagot against Robert de Pultne;
plea of warranty of charter.
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111 Oxon. Thomas of Rokeby essoins Geoffrey of Thrupp against
Giles of Berkeley; plea of custom and service; assize one month after
Easter. Roger le Messer essoins Isabel, wife of Geoffrey; same plea; he
has pledged his faith.

See no. 588.

112 Oxon. Henry Plot essoins Ralph de Chenduit against Thomas
Greasley; assize novel disseisin. Afterwards Ralph came. New case by the
said writ.

See nos. 261, 500, 530.

Entry crossed out.

113 William de Huniton essoins John parson of Churchill
< Cherwelton > against Nicholas de Nowers; plea of custom and service.
New case.

See no. 348.

114 Oxon. Walter son of Richard essoins Gerard de Oddingeseles
against William of Leach and Lettice his wife, and against Ralph son of
Lettice; plea of taking beasts; assize one month after Easter. New case by
writ pone.

See nos. 253, 706.

11S Oxon. John d’Oilly essoins Reynold Foster against William
Quatermain; plea of land. New case.
See no. 635.

116 Robert son of John essoins Beatrice, wife of Reynold, against the
same; same plea.

117 Adam son of Roger essoins the prior of Deerhurst against Thomas
of Appleton. Afterwards he came. New case from the Bench.

See no. 419.

Entry crossed out, and ‘Petens’ written above it.

118 Oxon. William Baillemur essoins Alda <Ada> Bluet against
Thurstan Despenser; plea of waste. New case.

119 Richard le Plumer essoins the same Alda < Ada> against Hugh le
Bulor; plea of debt; assize one month after Easter.
See nos. 242, 619.

120  Oxon. Robert of Fringford essoins William Boron against the prior
of Brackley Hospital; plea of debt; assize one month after Easter.
Afterwards he came. New case.

See no. 631.
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121 Oxon. Robert of Finmere essoins William du Boys, whom Gilbert
de Bracy and Hawise his wife called to warranty, Parnel of Finmere and
Aline her sister. Afterwards he came.

See nos. 387, 670.

Entry crossed out.

122 Northants. William of Amersham essoins Bartholomew of

Beckington against the master of the Templars in England, William de

Nowers, John de Faymeta, and Ralph de Carun; darrein presentment.
See nos. 182, 473.

123 Oxon. William de la Grave <Grene> essoins the prior of
Hertford against Ralph son of Robert; plea of mesne; assize one month
after Easter. New case by writ pone.

124 Hunts. William of Wiggenhall essoins John le Bere against the
abbot of Sawtry; plea of rent; assize to Lambeth, morrow of Ascension
Day. It does not lie because he is ordered to be distrained by lands and
rents. Old case.

See nos. 271, 329.

Entry crossed out.

125 Oxon. Dennis de Audrinton essoins Thomas le Sauvage against
Thomas of Langley. Thomas of Langley has died.
Entry crossed out.

126 Oxon. John of Foxley essoins Robert Danvers (he has a wife
Muriel) against William of Englefield and Alan Basset and Gilbert de
Baseville; assize one month after Easter. Same day given to Robert’s wife
Muriel in the Bench. New case.

See nos. 217, 225, 613-14, 702.

127 Thomas son of Robert essoins the same Robert against Gilbert de
Baseville; assize mort dancestor; to one month after Easter. Same day
given to Robert’s wife Muriel, Roger Huscop her attorney, in the Bench.
New case.

See no. 702.

128 William of Molesey essoins the same Robert against the said
William of Englefield and John Chubbe; plea of taking beasts; assize at
the said term. New case by writ pone.

See nos. 218, 648.

129 Oxon. Ellis of Holcombe essoins Christine wife <widow> of
Geoffrey Bertun (she has a husband) against Maurice le Angevin; assize
one month after Easter. Same day given to Geoffrey her husband in the
Bench. New case.

See no. 649.
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130 Oxon. Richard son of Robert essoins Stephen son of Richard, who
is in the Holy Land, against the abbot of Dorchester; warranty of

charter.
See nos. 248, 719.

131 Oxon. Peter Pain essoins Basilia wife of William of Dunsden
against William le Brode. William Pain essoins Alice widow of Walter
Pain against the same. New case by writ pone. Others in the writ.

See nos. 622, 699.

132 Oxon. William Cobbler essoins Hugh Hurtle against Walter Black
and Alice his wife and Gillian and Parnel, Alice’s sisters.
See no. 422.

133 Norfolk. William Peper essoins Robert Hauteyn against the abbot
of St. Benet of Holm; plea of fishery; assize day after Ascension Day at
Lambeth. O/d case .

See Cur. Reg. R. xvi, no. 2230.

134 Devon. John Nethel essoins Ismania de Crude (she has a husband
John) against Richard of Bradley and Maud his wife; plea of dower.

135 William Fughel essoins the same Richard against John
<Richard> de Crude and Ismania; same plea; assize 15 days after
Trinity at Canterbury. Same day given to John, husband of Ismania, and
to Maud, wife of Richard, in the Bench. Others in the writ.

136 Bucks. William df Chesham essoins Roger de Wimbervill against
William Pipard; plea of covenant.

137 John son of Everard essoins Ellis son of the same Roger; same
plea. Others in the writ.
See no. 646.

138 Shrops. Reynold Foliot essoins Emery de Sacy against Hugh le
Bulor; plea of debt; assize morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth. New
case.

See no. 242.

139 Suffolk. Robert Inyneton essoins Godfrey le Parker against
Roland son of Herbert [altered from ‘Henry’]; assize one month after
Easter. New case.

140 Oxon. [Illegible] essoins Thomas of Warblington, who is in the
Holy Land, against Richard Goldstan; plea of appeal [illegible].
Entry crossed out.

141 Herts. John of Lavington essoins Agnes of Purton against John de
Beyford.
See nos. 189, 708.
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142 Dorset. Roger of West Chickerell essoins Richard le Waleis against
Nicholas Poinz; assize morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth. Henry of
Langdon is Nicholas’s attorney by the king’s writ. New case.

143 Gloucs. Richard Rane essoins William of Ablington against
Nicholas son of Roger and Gwenllian his wife; plea of dower. Walter son
of Simon essoins John Bretasch against the same; same plea. Assize
morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth. New case.

See nos. 295, 461.

144 Herts. Edmund of Warden essoins the abbot of Warden against
Andrew le Cuir; ‘de fine facto’.

145 William of Buckingham essoins the same Andrew against the same.
Assize morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth. New case.

146 Wilts. Henry Wyly essoins Edith wife of William Quintin against
Beatrice widow of John Humphrey; plea of dower. And against Agnes
sister of the same Edith; plea of land. New case by two writs.

See no. 547.

147 Bucks. William Draper essoins Hugh Miller against Maud widow
of Roger the Weaver; plea of dower. Maud did not come, as appears in
the plea. New case.

See no. 674.

148 Oxon. Walter of Dorchester essoins Robert [Grosseteste] bishop of
Lincoln against Henry son of Gilbert of Drayton; assize of mort
dancestor; one month after Michaelmas at Westminster. Same day given
to all those who came. New case.

Cf. no. 704.

149 Oxon. Nicholas of Brill essoins William de Camera, attorney of

John Marshall, against Gunora de Bendinges; plea of dower; assize

Wednesday after Ascension Day at Lambeth <or Bermondsey>. John

warrants to Geoffrey Stockwell the tenement Gunora claims. O/d case.
See no. 721.

Essoins ‘de malo veniendi’ taken at Wycombe, Friday after St. Philip
and St. James [Friday 3 May].

150 Bucks. Turgis son of Thomas essoins the prioress of Marlow
against Isabel daughter of Alexander; assize mort dancestor.

151 William de Wikepit essoins Geoffrey of St. Martins against the
same; same plea; assize three weeks after Trinity at Canterbury. Isabel
appoints Richard de Del her attorney. Same day given to the jurors for
the assize. New case.
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rot. 2d]

152 Kent. Nicholas son of Roger essoins the prior of Holy Trinity,
Canterbury, against Burgia widow of Peter de Benning; plea of dower;
assize at Lambeth Sunday after Ascension Day. New

writ.

153 Lincs. John de Wysendon essoins Hugh son of Rainier against
Alice widow of Waleran de Mortimer; plea of dower. They have no writ,
nor has Alice come, and so let the essoin go as if she had come. [Last
sentence added later.]

154 Somerset. Richard Ploughman essoins Richard de Bradeston,
attorney of Hugh de Vinconquer against Aveline widow of Fulk de
Merk; plea of dower; he has pledged his faith.

Somerset Pleas (Som. Rec. Soc. xi), 126.

Essoins ‘de malo veniendi’ taken on Wednesday [17 April] next after the
quindene of Easter.

155 Cambs. Richard of Cheveley essoins Adam of St. Martins,
attorney of Hawise wife of John de Burgh, against Simon le Bret; plea of
land, whence duel; Thursday after Ascension, wherever it is to be
pleaded in Surrey; Roger of Boyland surety. Same day given to Hawise’s
husband John, by his attorney, in the Bench, by the king’s writ. He has
had all his essoins. Simon appoints Hugh le Bret or Ralph de Hanington
his attorney. Old case; duel.

156 Warws. Richard son of Robert essoins the abbot of Reading
against Nicola Bagot; plea of dower; assize Sunday after Ascension Day
at Lambeth. Nicola appoints Robert le Notte her attorney against all the
others named in the writ. New case; Others in the writ.

See nos. 380, 650.

Essoins ‘de malo veniendi’ taken at Oxford 3 weeks after Easter [Sunday
21 April]

157 Bucks. Warin of Langley essoins John son of Adam of
Longborough against Philip son of Adam; assize 15 days after Trinity at
Canterbury. New case.

158 Essex. Adam of Stratton essoins the abbot of Tilty against Mary
widow of Richard le Weyle; plea of dower; assize 15 days after Trinity.
New case.

159 John son of Robert essoins Peter de Tany against the same; same
plea; assize at the same term.
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160 William son of John essoins John of Ash against the same; same
plea; he has pledged his faith.

161 Beds. Nicholas son of Robert essoins the prior of Caldwell against
William de Beauchamp; warranty of charter.

162 Hants. William son of Bernard essoins John le Hoc against Ralph
de Cammeys; warranty of charter; assize Sunday after Ascension Day at
Lambeth. New case.

163 Gloucs. John de Duenigge essoins John de Chauflor, attorney of
Robert de Gurnay against the abbot of St. Augustine’s, Bristol (against
W]alter de Cantilupe] bishop of Worcester); plea of land; assize Monday
after Ascension Day at Lambeth; Roger of Boyland surety. Same day
given to the abbot by his attorney in the Bench. O/d case.

163a John le Gros essoins William of Weston, Robert de Gurnay’s
other attorney, against the same; same plea; to the same term by the
same surety.

164 Norfolk. Reynold son of Godfrey essoins William of Nunney
against Modgive widow of Hugh le Oisilur; assize at Trinity at
Canterbury. New case.

165 Suffolk. Adam son of William essoins Brian of Ringshall against
Olive widow of Robert de Frayn; plea of dower; assize 3 weeks after
Trinity at Canterbury. New case.

See no. 498.

166 Richard son of Walter essoins John of Bocking against the same;
same plea. Afterwards he came. Many in the writ.
See no. 498.

167 Adam du Boys essoins Robert de Burnevil against the same; same
plea.

168 Walter son of Adam essoins Ralph of Bocking against the same;
same plea; he has pledged his faith. He has made satisfaction.
Entry crossed out.

169 Warin son Hugh essoins the prior of Brisset against the same; same
plea; he has pledged his faith.
See no. 68.

170 Gilbert of Malham essoins Hamon Peche, who is in the Holy Land,
against the same; same plea; to the arrival of the justices; Roger Boyland
surety, because he is in the Holy Land.

See no. 498.

171 Peter son of Robert <Adam of Backford> essoins Roger of
Colwell against the same; same plea.
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172 Devon. Adam Scute essoins Robert of Sydenham against Martin
the constable and Agnes his wife; plea of dower; assize 3 weeks after
Trinity at Canterbury. New case.

See No. 382.

173 Adam of Backford essoins Roger de Hanse against the same; same
plea.

174 Norfolk. Peter de Tilney essoins Clement son of Geoffrey against
Lettice widow of John Pichokorum; plea of dower; assize 3 weeks after
Trinity at Canterbury. New case.

175 John of Beckham essoins Maud widow of Geoffrey son of William
against the same; same plea; assize at the same term.

176 Bucks. Thomas Dodd < Walter> essoins Warin FitzGerald
against Henry de Scaccario; plea of waste. <Afterwards he came.>
New case.

See no. 611.

177 Andrew of Iffley essoins Agnes (she has a husband), wife of Warin
FitzGerald, against Henry de Scaccario; plea of waste.
See nos. 418, 611.

178 Roger of Hanford essoins Parnel, wife of the same Henry, against
the same; same plea; assize morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth. Same
day given to Warin and Henry in the Bench.

See no. 611.

179 Bucks. William son of Ralph essoins Walter de la Wande against
Mary de Meresleg; plea of dower; assize 3 weeks after Trinity at
Canterbury. New case.

180 Bucks. Hugh de Wyfford essoins Richard de Sifrewast, whom the
abbot of Reading, Laurence del Brok, and Robert of Broughton called to
warrant, against Maud widow of Richard de Sifrewast; assize 3 weeks
after Trinity at Canterbury. Same day given to the abbot, Laurence and
Robert, in the Bench. O/d case.

< Hugh de Wyfford essoins Richard de Sifrewast against the abbot
of Reading; warranty of charter. Stephen de Stallis essoins the same
Richard against Laurence del Brok; warranty of charter. Richard Cook
essoins Robert of Broughton against the same; same plea. >

See no. 528.

181 Bucks. Richard of Eyton essoins Walter of Abergavenny, whom
Thomas of Abergavenny called to warrant, against Sarah widow of
Oliver son of Philip; plea of dower; assize 3 weeks after Trinity at
Canterbury. Same day given to Thomas and Cecily in the Bench. Old
case.

< Richard of Eyton essoins Walter of Abergavenny against Thomas
of Abergavenny; plea of warranty of charter. >
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182 Northants. Thomas of Beckington essoins Bartholomew of
Beckington against Ralph de Carun and Flandrina his wife, plea of
advowson; assize 15 days after Trinity at Canterbury. New case.

Cf. no. 473.

183 Roger Pallard essoins the Master of the Templars in England;
assize at the same term. Others in the writ.

184 William de Frayn essoins Loretta wife of John de Frayn against the
same; assize. Same day given to Loretta’s husband John in the Bench;
likewise all the others who came.

See no. 449.

185 Suffolk, Oxon. Robert of Molesworth essoins Henry de Pinkeney
against Christine widow of David de Luneseye; plea of dower.

186 John son of Henry essoins Gerard de Oddingeseles against the
same; same plea.

187 Warws. William Quicksilver essoins Gerard of Lindsey against the
same; same plea.
See no. 706.

188 Hugh de Nune essoins Hawise wife of Stephen of Wallingford
against William Morin and Margery his wife.
See no. 426.

189 Herts. Roger son of John essoins Agnes of Purton against John de
Beyford; plea of debt.
See nos. 141, 708.

190 Essex. Henry Marsh essoins Stephen Bukerel against Maud widow
of William de Mardick; plea of dower; assize 3 weeks after Trinity at
Canterbury. New case.

191 Maurice of Romford essoins the same Maud against the same
Stephen; same plea. Others in the writ.

192 Sussex. Martin son of John essoins Amice de Didellesfold (she has
a husband) wife of Richard le Turner against the abbot of Reading;
assize 3 weeks after Trinity at Canterbury. Same day given to Richard
her husband in the Bench. New case.

193 Herts. Robert of Stafford essoins Floria Iuvenal against Christine
widow of David of Lindsey; plea of dower. New case.

194 Thomas of Belby essoins William son of Drew against Henry de
Capella; plea of service and custom; assize 3 weeks after Trinity. New
case.

See no. 391.
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195 William Page essoins William son of Walter against the same; same
plea. Others in the writ.

196 Salop. Thomas son of William essoins Eustace de Furcis against
Mabel widow of Roger de Furcis; plea of dower; assize 3 weeks after
Trinity at Canterbury. Mabel appoints Roger de Furcis her attorney.
New writ.

197 Bucks. Alexander of Wexham essoins Joan wife of Henry Mansel
against Richard of Stoke; plea of warranty of charter; assize morrow of
Ascension Day at Lambeth. Same day given to Henry, Joan’s husband,
in the Bench. New case.

Essoins ‘de malo lecti’, Friday next after the feast of St. Mark the
Evangelist [Friday 26 April]

198 Geoffrey of Radclive, and Gregory son of Nicholas if he is not
present, essoins Ralph Hareng at Radclive in Bucks. against Roger
Gernun; assize one month after Michaelmas at Westminster. By writ
pone.

See nos. 91, 92.

Essoins ‘de malo veniendi’ a month after Easter [Sunday 28 April]

199 Bucks. Richard of Newnham <Nuneaton> essoins the prior of
Longueville, who is overseas, against Rannulph Briton; plea of
covenant.

Entry crossed out.

See nos. 210, 211.

200 Lincs. Peter son of Richard essoins Ivetta de Hermetorp against
Aline Wake (claimant). Aline has not come; she is the claimant, so let the
essoin go as if she had come.

201 Oxon. Robert Brisard essoins Nicholas of Grimstead, attorney of
Nicholas of Haversham, who called Ralph Hareng to warrant, against
John le Brun and Stephen of Fritwell. Be it known that Nicholas and the
others called to warrant Ralph Hareng, who essoined himself. Assize one
month after Michaelmas.

See nos. 102, 480, 614.

202 Herts. John son of William essoins William de Lewe, attorney for
Cecily his wife and Maud widow of John de Yiapston <Yapspon> and
John de Roda (and Roger son of John), against Adam Cross; assize 3
weeks after Trinity at Canterbury. By view.



20 THE OXFORDSHIRE EYRE, 1241

203 Bucks. Adam son of Walter essoins Paulinus Peyvre against
Richard de Siffrewast; assize one month after Michaelmas at
Westminster. New case by writ pone.

See no. 309.

204 William Spigernel essoins the prior of Caldwell against the same;
same plea; assize at the same term.

205 Bucks. Robert son of Warin essoins Philip son of Simon of
Frankley (whom Simon of Frankley called to warrant) against Urien de
Chenduit; assize one month after Michaelmas. Same day given to Simon
in the Bench.

206 Norfolk. Gilbert of Sedgeford essoins John of Sedgeford against
Beatrice Sket. Beatrice has not come, nor have we [sic] a writ, so let the
essoin go as if she had come.

207 Cornwall. William son of Edward essoins Alan Doget against
Maud de Penles; plea of dower; assize 3 weeks after Trinity at
Canterbury. New case; others in the writ.

208 John son of Ralph essoins Katelin, wife of the same Alan, against
the same; same plea; assize.

209 William son of Hugh essoins Simon de Eltesdon, attorney of
Giffard of Tyringham, against Richard of Gaddesden; plea of fishery
(whence the grand assize); assize at Westminster one month after
Michaelmas. Same day given to Luke de Kaynes, Ralph Barre, Aumary
de Nowers, and John le Brun, 4 knights summoned to elect 12 to make a
recognition of the grand assize.

210 Bucks. Geoffrey of Leckhampstead essoins Richard Badun,
attorney of Rannulph <Ralph> le Breton, claimant, against the prior
of Longueville; plea of covenant; assize.

See no. 199.

211 Richard of Newnham essoins the prior of Longueville, who is
overseas, against the same; same plea.
See no. 199.

212 Robert son of John essoins Iseult de Beauchamp against Mabel
widow of William Priest; plea of dower; assize 3 weeks after Trinity at
Canterbury. Mabel appoints Nicholas de [illegible] her attorney.

213 Richard son of John essoins William of Horton against Sarah of
Glapthorn.
Entry crossed out.

214 Philip son of Emery essoins the abbot of Croxton Kerrial against
Robert Butler; plea of wardship; assize 3 weeks after Trinity at
Canterbury.
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215 Robert son of John essoins William Neyrnuyt against Alice widow
of Simon Hocheder; plea of dower.
Entry crossed out.

216 Andrew son of William essoins Alice daughter of Hugh Chapman
against the same; same plea.
Entry crossed out.

217 John of Foxley essoins Richer Huscarl, attorney of Muriel wife of
Robert Danvers, against Alan Basset of Ipsden and William of
Englefield.

See nos. 126, 225, 613, 614.

218 Nicholas Nichols essoins the same Richer against William of
Englefield and John Chubbe; plea of ‘namio vetito’.
See nos. 128, 648.

219 Stephen son of William essoins the same attorney against Gilbert
de Bagyvill; assize mort dancestor.

220 Nicholas Menerel is the attorney of William de Cantilupe, guardian
of Gillian daughter and heir of Hugh de Gurnay, whom William
Neyrnuyt called to warrant against Richard [illegible]; assize.

See no. 425.

221 Hugh Pettrum essoins Alice wife of Simon Hocheder; plea of
dower; assize 3 weeks after Trinity.

222 Robert son of Jordan essoins the same William Neyrnuyt against
the same; same plea; assize at Canterbury. '

223 Andrew son of William essoins the same against [illegible]
Charman; same plea; assize.

224 Sampson Foliot against the prior of St. Frideswide’s; plea that he
do him due service; assize at the arrival of the justices at Wilton.
See no. 575.

m.3]

Pleas at Oxford 15 days after Easter [Sunday 14 April] 1241 before
William of York, provost of Beverley, and his fellow justices

225 Oxon. Alan Basset appoints Richard son of Alan his attorney
against William of Englefield; plea of warranty of charter. And against
Robert Danvers and Muriel his wife; plea of land.

See nos. 415, 613, 648.
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226 Northants. Geoffrey of Appleby appoints Stephen of Sapcote his
attorney against William de Forcis and Christine his wife, Henry of
Hastings and Ada his wife, and Isabel de Brus; plea of debt.

See no. 412.

227 Northants. Hugh Gubmon appoints Stephen Long < of Sapcote>
his attorney against John Malesoures; plea of land.
See no. 414.

228 Oxon. Bucks. The abbot of Woburn appoints his monk Thomas de
Cestresham his attorney against Saer de Wahull; to levy chirograph. And
against Lucy widow of Ralph Passelewe; plea of wardship.

See no. 507.

229 Oxon. Joan wife of Thomas de Valoynes appoints Thomas her
husband her attorney against Reynold of Whitchurch; plea of land.
See nos. 87, 245.

230 Northants. Hawise de Quincy, countess of Lincoln, appoints
Richard of Taynton or Roger de Skerminges her attorney against
Amabel widow of Richard Rufus; plea of dower.

231 Suffolk. Hugh Gernegan claims his land by pledge, Tuesday before
Palm Sunday [19 March], which was taken into the king’s hand for his
default against Margery widow of Hubert Gernegan; let him have it.

See no. 408.

232 Norfolk. The prior of Fakenham [Hempton] claims his land by

pledge, Easter Eve [30 March], which was taken into the king’s hand for

his default against Robert of Norton and Mary his wife; let him have it.
See no. 623.

233 Reynold de Mendre and Isolde his wife give 40s. for licence to
agree with Lancelin of Stoke and Amice his wife.
See no. 246.

234 Laurence del Brok gives 1 mark for licence to agree with Thomas
de Haya and William le Megre.
Cf. Oxon. Fines, 112, 121.

235 Beds. William de St. Leger appoints Osbert Carver of Luton his
attorney against John de Baynhal, Richard, Thomas, and Henry his
brothers; plea of warranty of charter.

See no. 71.

236 William Avenel, who brought a writ of right against William of
Staines and Joan his wife and Hugh the Butler for 2 ploughlands in
Wilcote, came and sought licence to withdraw; let him have it.

See Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 758.
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237 Berks. Giles de Erle, Geoffrey Martel, Richard of Hendred and
Robert of Bradley, 4 knights summoned to elect 12 to make a recognition
of the grand assize between William Briton, plaintiff, and Robert of
Shottesbrook, tenant, for a moiety of the manor of Shottesbrook.
Robert put himself on the grand assize and claimed a recognition which
of them has the greater right in the land. They come and elect Hugh de
Philibert, Thomas de Bertham, Richard Bulloc, Roger de la Hide, Henry
de Elinton, Richard Neyrnuyt, Robert of Uffington, William of
Englefield, Nicholas the Butler, Hugh son of Henry, John of Hendred,
Richard son of John, William de Brikenoles, Henry of Tubney, Peter de
Itune, Roger of Wytham. Day given to them at Lambeth, morrow of
Ascension Day, and let the 12 come then. Old case.
See Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 758.

238 Berks. The abbot of Eynsham appoints Richard of Brackley his
attorney against Roger de la Hide; plea of ‘quare impedit’; and against
Robert Clerk of Islip; plea of land.

See nos. 396, 459; cf. Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 2044.

239 Essex Day given to Peter of Cressing, plaintiff, and the dean and
chapter of St. Martin’s, London, to hear judgement on the advowson of
the church of Cressing; octave of Trinity at Canterbury, at the prayer of
the parties.

See Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 2093.

240 Chiltern Assize of nuisance to declare whether Roger de Cundicote
made a dike in Caversham to the nuisance of Thomas son of Siward’s
free holding in Mapledurham. Roger comes and says nothing to stay the
assize. Roger of Whitchurch, Peter son of Roger, and Phililp Keynel,
jurors, have not come, so they are in mercy.

The jurors say that Roger made the dike as the writ says, so it is adjudged
that the dike should be knocked down. Roger in mercy; sureties William
son of Thomas du Boys and William de la Hake. Damages 12d.

Cf. no. 466.

241 The prior of Luffield appoints Richard of Stafford his attorney
against Hugh of St. Martin’s; plea of mesne.
Cf. Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 2340.

242 Hugh le Bulor appoints John Clerk his attorney against Maud
Bluet; plea of debt. And against Emery de Sacy; plea of debt. And
against Robert de Gurnay; plea of debt.

See nos. 5, 138.

243 The prioress of Studley appoints Brother Robert her lay brother
her attorney against Hervey Hervunt and Cecily his wife; plea of dower.

244 The abbot of Winchcombe appoints Richard of Windrush or
Robert de Anestan his attorney.
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245 Alice wife of Reynold of Whitchurch appoints Thomas of Aston
her attorney against Thomas de Valoynes and Joan his wife; plea of
land.

See nos. 87, 229.

246 Derby Day given to Reynold de Mendre and Isolde his wife,
plaintiffs, and Lancelin of Stoke and Amice his wife to levy chirograph
about a moiety of the manor of Stoke; morrow of Ascension day at
Lambeth. Reynold and Isolde appoint Robert de Hydy their attorney;
Lancelin and Amice appoint Roland le Breton their attorney.

See no. 233.

247 Essex. Day given to Robert of Creeping Hall by his attorney,
plaintiff, and Hugh of Arden by his attorney, to hear judgement;
morrow of Ascension Day at Lambeth.

248 Oxon. The abbot of Dorchester appoints Ralph son of Richard his
attorney against Stephen son of Richard; plea of warranty of charter.
And against Margery widow of William Goldsmith; plea of land.

See nos. 130, 719, 722.

249 Oxon. Maud widow of Hugh de Gurnay appoints John the
Fleming her attorney against Geoffrey of Cholsey; plea of assize of novel
disseisin. And against Ralph de Herding; same plea.

See nos. 466, 468, 469.

250 Northants. Dorset Gloucs. Suffolk Surrey Beatrice widow of
Nicholas Malesmayns appoints Roger of Calmsden or Seisillus of St.
Peter her attorney against the prior of Bradenstoke and others; plea of
dower. Ralph the chaplain appoints Roger of Calmsden his attorney
against the same; same plea.

See nos. 360, 361, 362; Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, nos. 2099, 2410.

251 Oxon. Emma wife of John Sundy appoints John her husband her
attorney against Isabel countess of Oxford, and against Ralph son of
Richard and Joan his wife; plea of land.

See nos. 426, 417.

252 Oxon. The dean of Exeter appoints John of Lydford his attorney
against William son of Robert; plea of assize utrum.
See no. 590.

253 Oxon. Lettice wife of William of Leach appoints the same William
her attorney against Gerard de Oddingeseles; plea of taking beasts.
See no. 114, 706.

254 Norfolk Isabel wife of Benet de Cant’ appoints Richard de Eynden
her attorney against William son of Roger; plea of land.

255 Lincs. Joan widow of Laurence of Holbeach appoints Simon de
Sirrion or Gilbert de Cherle her attorney against William le Angevin;
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282 Oxon. The abbot of Dorchester appoints William of Prescote his
canon his attorney against Rober. of Holcombe and Maud his wife, plea
of covenant, and against Roger of Geddington, plea of land.

See nos. 420, 318; Oxon. Fines, 110-11.

283 Norfolk William de Stuteville presented himself on the 4th day
against Roger de Cressy, to levy chirograph for the lands of
Wickhampton, Ranworth, Panksworth, and Upton. Roger has not
come, and he was attached by William Wroge of Orford and William
Palmer of Newton. So he is to be placed under better sureties to be
present on Sunday after Ascension Day. Old case.

See Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, nos. 794, 2282.

284 Herefs. Maud widow of William son of Walter de Hamme [sic]
claims against Henry of Bradley one third of 32 a. land in Hamne
[?Hamnish] as her dower. Henry comes and calls to warrant Roger son
of Walter de Hamme for 22 a., and Walter de Lincelee for 10 a. He is to
have them at Hereford at the arrival of the next justices by the aid of the
court. Old case.

Cf. no. 29.

285 Norfolk Geoffrey of Loddon gives 1 mark for licence to agree with
John son of John of Loddon, plea of wardship, by surety of Roger of
Boyland. The agreement is that John grants Geoffrey the wardship of his
younger brother Nicholas until he comes of age. He also grants Geoffrey
Nicholas’s homage for all the holding which John his father gave him.
He will confirm and warrant the wardship to Geoffrey.

286 Northants. Robert de Gurduy and Christine his wife, by
Christine’s attorney, claim against Stephen of All Saints 1 yardland in
‘Wande’ as Christine’s right. Stephen comes and calls to warrant Roger
de Tutseyns (of All Saints), son and heir of William de Tutseyns (of All
Saints). He is to have him at Lambeth on the Sunday after Ascension
Day by aid of the court. He is to be summoned in Essex. Old case.

287 Chadlington Assize of novel disseisin to declare whether Geoffrey
son of Isaac unjustly disseised Richard de Amundevill and Clemence his
wife of 4 a. land and a headland of meadow, estimated at 4 rood, in
Chilson. Geoffrey comes and says nothing to stay the assize.

The jurors say that Geoffrey disseised them of a piece of land. So it is
adjudged that they recover their seisin against him by view of
recognitors, and Geoffrey is in mercy. They say that he did not disseise
them of the headland of meadow. So it is adjudged that Geoffrey go
without day, and they themselves are in mercy for a false claim. Damages
6d.

288 Wootton Assize of novel disseisin to declare whether Henry son of

William unjustly disseised Stephen son of Eustace of a messuage and 2 a.
- land in Hensington. Henry comes and says nothing to stay the assize.

The jurors say that Henry disseised him, so it is adjudged that Stephen
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recover his seisin and Henry is in mercy; sureties Eustace son of Geoffrey
of Hensington and Eudes of Hensingtun. Damages 3s.

289 Oxon. Henry de Pinkeney appoints Hugh le Pele his attorney
against Gerard de Oddingeseles and others named in the writ; assize of
novel disseisin.

See no. 532

290 Essex Day given to Isabel de Brus by her attorney, plaintiff, against
Robert de Quincy and Helen his wife; plea of waste. Morrow of
Ascension day at Lambeth, at the prayer of the parties.

Cf. Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 1852.

291 Beds. William de Beauchamp, by his attorney, presented himself
on the 4th day against Emma of Swerford, plea that she give him back
custody of 1 knight’s fee in Milton Bryant which belongs to him in that
Geoffrey Brien held it of him by knight service. Emma comes by her
attorney and calls to warrant Master Alexander of Swerford. She is to
have him at Canterbury on the octave of Holy Trinity, by aid of the
court. He is to be summoned in Essex. Old case.
Beds. Hist. Rec. Soc. ix. 137.

292 Somerset Ralph son of Nicholas presented himself on the 4th day
against Catherine widow of Michael son of Nicholas, plea of why after
the death of Michael her husband she intruded herself into 1 knight’s fee
in West Chinnock, the reversion of which belonged to Ralph by fine
made in the king’s court before the justices at Westminster between
William de Holedan, plaintiff, and the said Michael and Catherine,
tenants. Catherine has not come, and she was attached by William Cock
and Gervase of Fenhampton. So she is to be placed under better sureties
to be at Lambeth on the Sunday after Ascension Day. Ralph appoints
Henry of Langton or Henry of Draycott his attorney.
Somerset Pleas (Som. Rec. Soc. xi), 126-7.

293 Oxon. The prioress of Littlemore appoints Adam chaplain of
Littlemore or Fulk Basset her attorney against Adam of Spaldington and
Maud his wife, Laurence de Scaccario and Helen his wife, and Isabel,
sister of Maud and Helen; plea of assize of mort dancestor; and against
John le Brun and Stephen of Fritwell, plea of land; and against Alan
Butcher and Margery his wife, plea of novel disseisin.

See nos. 471, 481, 586; cf. Oxon. Fines, 116.

294 Adam de Galweia gives 2 mark for licence to agree with John
Clement, plea of land; sureties, the same John and John of
Longborough.

295 Gloucs. Somerset Gwenllian wife of Nicholas son of Roger

appoints Matthew de Bakepeth her attorney against John Bretasch and

William of Ablington and others named in the writ; plea of dower.
Somerset Pleas (Som. Rec. Soc. xi), 127. See nos. 143, 461.
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296 Bucks. The abbot of Missenden appoints William le Franceis his
attorney against Rose widow of Erneis de Turreville; plea of dower. He
removes Roger de Wimbervill whom he first appointed. And against
John de North and Elviva his wife; plea of land.

See nos. 363, 435.

m. 4d.]

297 Bucks. Henry de Scaccario, William of Englefield, Simon Druel,
and William of Moreton, 4 knights summoned to elect 12 to make a
recognition of the grand assize between Tayllefer de Kingeshull,
plaintiff, and Alice Angod, Robert de Guiarvill and Agnes his wife, Giles
de Bovill and Isabel his wife, tenants, for 16 a. land and 20s. 6 4d. rent in
Wycombe, whereon Alice, Robert, Agnes, Giles, and Isabel, the tenants,
put themselves on the king’s grand assize and claimed a recognition
whether they have a greater right to hold that land and rent in demesne or
whether Tayllefer has a greater right to hold it of them, come and have
elected these: Alexander of Hampden, Robert Brand, Roger of
Missenden, Walter Duredent, Reynold Siffrewast, William of Blackwell,
Robert Perepunt, William de Beauchamp, Osbert de Sancresdon, John le
Mire, Henry de Airel, Gilbert de Bolebek, Jordan de Arches, Miles
Neyrnuyt, Robert de Kenebell, and Alan of Maidwell. Day given to them
at Lambeth morrow of Ascension Day, and let the 12 come then.

298 Bucks. Ailine wife of John de Ilmer appoints John her husband her
attorney against the abbot of Missenden; plea of land.

299 Oxon. Lettice of Glympton appoints Richard of Newton her
attorney against Nicholas Fisher; plea of warranty of charter.

300 Oxon. The abbot of Eynsham gives 40s. for licence to agree with
Master Walter le Fevere; plea of warranty of charter.
See Oxon Fines, 118.

301 Oxon. Ralph Hareng appoints Robert of Swinbrook or Robert of
Laund his attorney against Agnes widow of Robert Smith, and against
Walter Stagun and Maud his wife, and against Philip of Dean and Gretia
his wife, and against Ralph of Banbury and Alice his wife, and against
William Marsh and Gillian his wife, and against Roger Marsh and
Margaret his wife; plea of land.

See no. 638.

302 Hunts. The prior of St. Neots was summoned to answer Master
Reynold of Bath, parson of the church of Paxton, on a plea that he allow
him his reasonable estovers in his wood of Agden. The prior comes by his
attorney and calls to warrant Julian de Haya; let him have him at
Lambeth on the Sunday after Ascension Day to warrant him about the
wood where Master Reynold claims his reasonable estovers. Let him be
summoned in Suffolk. O/d case.
See no. 62.
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303 Bloxham Assize of mort dancestor to declare whether Robert son
of John, father of Alice and Margaret her sister, was seised of 1 yardland
and 2 parts of a messuage, except for 3 4 a. land, in Adderbury, which
Henry de Linguir holds. Henry comes and acknowledges that Robert
died seised and that they are his daughters, but says that Robert had a
son named John, brother of the claimants, who after Robert’s death was
seised of the said land and messuage, so if there is an assize of mort
dancestor between the parties, it should be for their brother’s death not
their father’s. He places himself on the assize.

The jurors say that Robert died seised, and after Robert’s death John his
son, Alice and Margaret’s brother, was seised of the land for 3 years. So
it is adjudged that Henry go without day, and they are in mercy. They are
poor. They may proceed against Henry for their brother John’s death if
they wish.

304 Banbury Alice widow of William of Wardington claims against the
prior of Chacombe one third of 3 yardlands and 4 a. land and a messuage
in Wardington as her dower. Be it known that the prior holds 1 yardland
with a toft and 4 a. land in fee. The prior comes by his attorney and calls
to warrant Henry son and heir of the said William, who is in the
guardianship of Richard of Prescote. He comes and says that she has a
husband without whom she cannot and should not answer him, and she
cannot deny it. So the prior goes without day.
See Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 1150.

305 Bloxham Assize of novel disseisin to declare whether Godfrey of
Crowcombe, Robert de la Hay, Geoffrey le Senescal, and Adam of
Bloxham unjustly disseised Thomas Goher of 1 knight’s fee in Sibford
Gower.

Godfrey comes and the others do not. Godfrey says that the assize ought
not to be taken because Thomas never had any free holding there; he says
that when Normandy was lost Thomas’s father, Thomas, was in
Normandy and sent his wife away and that this Thomas, his son, was
with her. Afterwards the elder Thomas died and his widow, Thomas’s
mother, asked the king through her friends that she might have the fee
for her support, at the king’s will, because she wished to intrude Thomas
into the fee as heir. When the king heard it he ordered Godfrey, then
sheriff, to take the land into his hand, which he did. Afterwards, in
1232-3, the king enfeoffed Godfrey with the land by his charter, which
Godfrey produces and which bears witness to this. So he says that
Thomas cannot have any free holding there through the interest of his
mother, who held the land at the king’s will. He also produces the charter
of Thomas, earl of Warwick, chief lord of the fee, who confirmed the
gift, but did not offer any warranty, since he took the land into the king’s
hand. So enquire. Godfrey appoints William of Ibstone his attorney.
Thomas says that 10 years ago, before the making of the king’s charter,
he was in seisin of the fee from Easter until the following autumn as true
heir of his father, and after his father’s death entered into the land.
Within the time when he had the seisin he took homage and other
outgoings belonging to the land, and gave part of it to one of his sisters in
marriage, which she still holds, and the earl of Warwick, the chief lord,
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took his homage and fealty for the fee, to which his letters patent bear
witness.
Afterwards Godfrey comes and produces the king’s letters of warranty in
these words: Henry by the grace of God king of England, lord of Ireland,
duke of Normandy and Aquitaine, count of Anjou, to the sheriff of
Oxfordshire, greeting; know that we have granted to our dear and
faithful Godfrey of Crowcombe the land which was Thomas Goher’s the
Norman’s in Sibford, to maintain him in our service as long as we please.
So we order you to let Godfrey have full seisin of the land. Given at
Reading, 2 July 1231. Let it be known that this writ is with the writs of
divers counties received at Oxford. Enquire.
Day given to them to hear judgement at Westminster 3 weeks after St.
Hilary’s day. Thomas appoints Robert Canceis his attorney.

Cf. Bk. of Fees, 449, 823

306 Norfolk Walter son of Ailric claims against William le Fix the
parson 8 a. land in Fordham. William comes and claims a view. Day
given to them at the arrival of the justices. Old case.

307 Oxon. The abbot of Evesham, by his attorney, claims against
Robert of Pyrton 3 yardlands in Golder, and against the same Robert,
whom William de Cleyhile called to warrant and who warranted him, 1
yardland in the same place. Robert comes and calls to warrant Thomas
Greasley. Let him have him at Lambeth on the Sunday after Ascension
Day, by the aid of the court. Old case.

See no. 636.

308 The prior of Cogges appoints Peter del Brok his attorney against
William of Brackley; plea of warranty; and against Walter of Rousham;
plea of land.

309 Day given to Maud widow of Richard de Sifrewast, by her

attorney, plaintiff, and Paulinus Peyvre, defendant; plea of dower; 15

days after Michaelmas at Westminster 1241, at the prayer of the parties.
See no. 203.

310 Wilts. Assize of darrein presentment to declare which patron
presented the last parson, who has died, to the church of Poulton.
Gwenllian widow of Baldwin de Bolors claims the advowson against the
abbot of Lilleshall, and says that one Robert de Bolors, her husband’s
brother, presented Alan de Bolors, his clerk, who at his presentation was
admitted and instituted and finally died as parson of the church.
Wherefore she says that since Robert her former husband [sic] was
Baldwin’s [sic] brother and heir, and since she holds the manor of
Poulton of the gift of her husband, who dowered her with it, and since
the church is one of the appurtenances of the manor, the advowson
ought to belong to her.

The abbot comes and denies force and injury and says that the assize
ought not to be held, since he says and acknowledges that Baldwin
presented Alan, and that Alan was at Baldwin’s presentation admitted
and at last died parson of the church. So the assize should be stayed. The
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abbot also says that after Baldwin presented Alan, Robert gave the
church to him and his monks in pure and perpetual alms by his charter,
which he produces and which bears witness. He also produces the
confirmation charter of William de Courtenay, Robert’s kinsman and
heir, and the charter of Herbert [Poore] bishop of Salisbury confirming
to them the patronage of the church, and the confirmation of Guala the
papal legate.

Gwenllian says she cannot deny the right and ownership of the church in
judgement, nor answer about it without the king, who is the warrantor of
her dower. So a day is given to them at Lambeth on the morrow of
Ascension Day so that judgement may be discussed with the king. The
abbot appoints Brother Henry, his canon, his attorney; Gwenllian
appoints Walter Foliot or Simon of Weston.

311 Hants. Nicholas Kipping of Winchester gives I mark for licence to
agree with Agnes widow of Gerald de la Rivere; plea of land.

312 Wootton Assize of mort dancestor to declare whether Durand the
clerk, father of Geoffrey, was seised of 1 yardland and 1 <2>
messuage <s> in Hensington, which William Langhals and Agnes his
wife hold. They come and call to warrant Henry de Alney. Let them have
him, by aid of the court, at Canterbury on the octave of Trinity. Let him
be summoned in Northamptonshire. Old case.

See no. 322; Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 2091; Oxon. Fines, 124.

313 Dorset Nicholas de Poinz, by his attorney, presented himself on the
4th day against John de Barecis; plea that he allow his villeins of Upway
to do the suit which they owe to Nicholas’s hundred of ‘Kilner’
[?Culliford Tree]. And against the same John that he do the suit which
he owes to the same hundred. John has not come. He was summoned.
Adjudged that he be attached to be at Lambeth on the Sunday after
Ascension Day.

314 Surrey Burgia widow of Peter de Bendenges claims against J ohn of
Kemsing, whom John de Frewik <Froywick> called to warrant and
who warranted him, one third of 4 knight’s fee in Bookham as her
dower. John called to warrant Thomas son and heir of Peter de
Bendenges who is in the guardianship of Thomas de Valoynes, who now
comes and produces Thomas and says that he holds none of Peter’s lands
or holdings, since the king holds them in his hand. So the sheriff of
Surrey is ordered to extend and value all the lands which J ohn holds of
the lands which were Peter de Bendenges’s in Bookham and make known
the extent and value to the itinerant justices at Lambeth on the Sunday
after Ascension day by his letters. The same day is given to the parties.
Old case.

315 Banbury Godfrey le Ciror, who brought a writ of mort dancestor
against William le Ciror for land 50 ft. long by 16 ft. wide in Banbury has
not prosecuted; so he and his sureties for prosecuting in mercy, namely
Richard Edmund and Hugh Hurtle.
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316 Beds. Ralph le Potter gives 2 mark for licence to agree with Adam
Torod; assize of mort dancestor; by surety of the same Adam.
Beds. Hist. Rec. Soc. ix. 137.

317 Essex, Suffolk, Cambs. Margery de Kemesie presented herself on
the 4th day against Edmund de Kemesie, plea of why he carried off her
corn from her grange in Tilbury contrary to the agreement made between
them before the last itinerant justices at Canterbury. And why he did not
keep the agreement made between them there about her dower in the
manor of Tilbury, Essex, and the manor of ‘Lyninge’, Suffolk, and the
manor of Fordham, Cambridgeshire. Edmund has not come, and he was
attached by Thomas le Mariner and Sewal le Mariner; so let him be
placed under better sureties to be at Lambeth on the morrow of
Ascension day. He is attached in Essex. Old case.

See no. 260; Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 2119.

318 Dorchester Assize of mort dancestor to declare whether Thomas of
Geddington, uncle of Roger of Geddington, was seised of 1 yardland in
Dorchester which the abbot of Dorchester holds. The abbot comes and
calls to warrant Reinbald Cusin, who is present and warrants him and
says nothing to stay the assize.

The jury say that Thomas died seised of the land, but he died before the
term specified in the writ. They do not know who is his right heir. So it is
adjudged that Roger take nothing by this assize, and he is in mercy for a
false claim, and Reinbald is without day.

See no. 282.

319 Norfolk Christine widow of Thomas of St. Owen, by her attorney,
presented herself on the 4th day against Simon son of Ralph de
Criketoft, plea that he keep the covenant made between them about 33 a.
land, 6 a. turbary, and 74 a. meadow in Walsham. Simon has not come
and has made many defaults. So he is to be distrained by his land to be at
Lambeth on the Sunday after Ascension day.

320 Norfolk Benet of Dilham, essoiner of Christine widow of Thomas
of St. Owen, presented himself on the 4th day against Hubert Hacun;
plea that he render her a charter which he unjustly witholds. Hubert has
not come, and he was summoned. It is adjudged that he be attached to be
at Lambeth on the Sunday after Ascension day.

See no. 11.

321 Warws. Alice widow of Henry of Ullenhall appoints Robert le
Notte her attorney against Simon de Aldoluestre and others named in the
writ; plea of dower.

See nos. 280, 355.

322 Oxon. Agnes wife of William Langhals appoints William her son
her attorney against Geoffrey son of Durand; assize of mort dancestor.
See no. 312.
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323 Ralph son of Nicholas appoints Henry of Draycott his attorney
against [blank in MS] widow of Godfrey Spigernel; plea of dower.
Cf. no. 292.

324 Roger Foliot appoints William Pain his attorney against Stephen of
Fritwell; plea of land.
See no. 540.

m. 5d.]

°

325 Lincs. William le Angevin, by his attorney, claims against Joan
widow of Laurence of Holbeach custody of 1 bovate in Holbeach which
belongs to him since Laurence held it of him by knight service. William
claims that although Laurence held the land by knight service, doing him
such foreign service as belongs to the land of the fee, Joan unjustly
withholds from him the custody of the land, whence he has suffered
damages to the value of 100s. William also says that Laurence gave him
and his predecessors 24d. a year for castle guard at Richmond, and 5d.
for scutage when scutage was levied at 20s., more when it was more. He
gives the king I mark to have an inquiry by jury, by surety of Ralph de
Quappelade.
Joan comes by her attorney and denies force and injury. She denies that
Laurence ever held by knight service of William, as he says, since he held
the land in socage by service of 3s. and 5 hens a year. She gives the king
V4 mark for an inquiry, by surety of Gilbert de Cherle.
So the sheriff is ordered to cause 12 men to come before him and before
the keepers of the pleas of the crown, and to make inquiry of them on
oath whether Laurence on the day he died paid William 24d. for castle
guard at Richmond when a knight’s fee of the same honor rendered 10s.
for guard, and 5d. for scutage when scutage was levied at 20s., as
William says, or whether Laurence paid William 3s. and 5 hens a year for
all service, as Joan says. The sheriff is to report the result of the inquiry
at Canterbury in the octave of Trinity by his letters. Old case.
Afterwards the result of the inquiry comes, which is: Laurence held 1
bovate in Holbeach of William le Angevin by knight service, doing as
much foreign service as belongs to so much land of the fee, so that
Laurence and his predecessors paid William and his predecessors 24d. a
year for castle guard at Richmond, and 5d. for scutage when scutage was
20s. He did not hold in socage. So it is adjudged that William keep his
seisin of the custody, and Joan is in mercy.
The same Joan was summoned to answer the same William that she give
back to him Lambert, son and heir of the said Laurence of Holbeach,
whose wardship belongs to him, since Laurence held his land by knight
service. Joan comes by her attorney and calls to warrant Thomas de
Muleton. She is to have him at Canterbury at the said term by aid of the
court. Old case.

See no. 255; Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 1995.

326 Essex William de Marty claims against William de Feduos whom
Guy de Haffend called to warrant and who warranted him 60 a. land in
[Magdalen] Laver as his right, of which his predecessor Gilbert was
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seised in the time of Henry II, taking profits to the value of 4 mark.
From Gilbert the right in the land descended to his son Richard, and
from Richard to his son William, who now claims. And that such is his
right he offers to prove on the body of Henry son of William, who is
ready to prove it on his body as his father’s representative as the court
may adjudge.

William [de Feduos] comes by his attorney and denies William’s right
and his predecessor Gilbert’s seisin, on the body of his free man Thomas
de Marnes, who is ready to deny it as the court may adjudge. So it is
adjudged that there be a duel between them and that Thomas should give
surety of denial and Henry surety of proof. Thomas’s sureties, Roger de
Wimbervill, Guy de Haffend, Manesseh of Wendover, and John the
clerk of Wendover; Henry’s sureties, Laurence del Brok, Thomas of
Ramsden, Henry de Shelvelegh. William appoints William his son his
attorney.

Afterwards they reached an agreement and had a chirograph.

Day given to them, Monday after Ascension day, wherever the itinerant
justices are in Surrey; then they shall come armed.

327 Norfolk The prior of Lewes, by his attorney, presented himself on
the 4th day against William son of William, on a plea that William do
him the custom and right services which he owes for his free holding
which he holds of him in Shernborne. William has not come, and has
made many defaults. So the sheriff was ordered to take all his lands into
the king’s hand and to have his body here. The sheriff did none of this.
So he is to do as he was ordered above, and is to have his body at
Lambeth on the Sunday after Ascension day.

328 Bucks. Basilia de la Ponne, by her attorney, presented herself on
the 4th day against Stephen of Ashwell and Aubrey his wife on a plea
that they warrant her 22 a. land in High Wycombe which Richard de
Rocomago claimed against her, and on which she called Stephen to
warrant her against him. They have not come, and they were summoned.
Judgement: land to the same value is to be taken into the king’s hand
from Simon and Aubrey’s land. They are summoned to be at Canterbury
on the octave of Trinity. Same day given to Basilia, by her attorney, in
the bench. O/d case.
See no. 676.

329 Hunts. The abbot of Sawtry, by his attorney, presented himself on
the 4th day against John de le Bere, plea that he keep the chirograph of
fine made between them over 20s. rent in Ellington. John has not come,
and he had been seen in the court and withdrew without licence. So the
sheriff is ordered to distrain him by his lands, and to have his body at
Lambeth on the Sunday after Ascension day. O/d case.

See nos. 124, 271.

330 Cambs. Richard du Boys presented himself on the 4th day against
Ralph Pirot, plea of why, on the death of Joan Pirot wife of Richard de
Attenestan, he took from him the cutody of 1 yardland in Sawston which
he had of the gift of Richard and Joan. Ralph has not come, and he was
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summoned. It is adjudged that he be attached to be at Lambeth on the
Sunday after Ascension day. Old case.

331 Beds. Robert le Sauvage gives Y2 mark for licence to agree with
Simon Cross, plea of wager of law.
Beds. Hist. Rec. Soc. ix. 137.

332 Mddx. William Anselm, for himself and Gille his wife, presented
himself on the 4th day against the prior of St. Bartholomew’s, London,
plea of why he made waste, sale, and destruction of Stanmore wood
which they hold as Gille’s dower for the use of the prior’s heirs [sic]. The
prior has not come, and he was the plaintiff. So William and Gille
without day; the prior and his sugeties for prosecuting in mercy, names
of the sureties to be inquired for.

Afterwards the prior came and gave Y2 mark for licence to agree. The
agreement is as follows: William and Gille recognise that they hold 1
knight’s fee as Gille’s dower by service of 1 Ib. [?cumin] or 2d., they will
do foreign service, and they will make no waste.

333 Dorchester Assize of novel disseisin to declare whether the abbot of
Dorchester, Walter the clerk, Richard the priest, and Nicholas the clerk
unjustly disseised Maud of Clifton of 6 a. land in Clifton Hampden. The
abbot comes and answers for himself and all the others and says nothing
to stay the assize. Alexander de la Breche and William de Cornevill, two
recognitors, have not come, therefore in mercy.

The jury say that the abbot and the others did not disseise Maud because
she was never in seisin. So it is adjudged that Maud take nothing by that
assize and is in mercy for a false claim. She is poor. The others without
day.

334 Essex William Mauduit of Terling gives 4+ mark for licence to agree
with John Renger and Henry of Necton, plea of covenant. The
agreement is as follows: John gives Henry 35 marks which he claims at
Lambeth 5 weeks after Easter, or surety on which Henry can raise the
money, and if he does not do so, he grants that the sheriff may do so
from his lands. Henry remits his term in the land which he has of William
to John. William grants John that land for his term, according to the
agreement which William made with John’s father before he made the
agreement with Henry about the land. John is to have a writ to the
sheriff about having his seisin.
See no. 345.

335 Essex Ralph Cubum gives 40s. for licence to agree with Henry de
Balliol and his parceners by surety of Henry of Sewell and John de
Canne.

See no. 407.

336 Bucks. Day given to Ralph of Norwich, plaintiff, and Sibilla
Gargat, defendant, to levy chirograph; day after Ascension day at
Lambeth.
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337 Ralph of Norwich appoints Peter de Pycheltorp his attorney
against William de Doringwich; plea of custom and right services.

m. 6]

338 Suffolk Sarah widow of Robert de Rennes claims against
Alexander de Rennes half of a messuage and 26 a. land in Sproughton
and half of 36 a. land and 2 a. wood and 1 a. meadow and a messuage in
Burstall. And against Humphrey Clerk half of 2 a. land in the same vill,
as her dower. She says she has suffered damage to the value of 20 marks.
Alexander and the others have come, and Humphrey calls to warrant
Alexander, who is present and warrants him and answers for the whole,
and says that she was dowered in the vill of ‘Brumford’ with all the land
which Robert her husband held in the vill, wherefore she could not claim
dower in another place because she had her full dower; and he places
himself on a jury.

Sarah says that she does not hold the land in ‘Brumford’ in dower but
holds it according to the custom of the manor of ‘Brumford’ which is
that a wife after her husband’s death ought to have all his land for the
term of her life as her free bench, and ought nevertheless to have full
dower of his lands and holdings outside the manor. She places herself on
ajury.

So the sheriff is ordered to make 12 men come before the keepers of the
pleas of the crown, and by their oaths let it be diligently inquired if the
custom of the manor of ‘Brumford’ is that widows ought to have as their
free bench all their husbands’ lands in ‘Brumford’ for their lives, so that
as long as they live their husbands’ heirs cannot have any of the lands,
and if, moreover, the widows ought to have their full dower in the lands
outside the manor, as Sarah says, or not. He is to make known the jury’s
findings by his letters to the justices at Canterbury in the octave of
Trinity.

Be it known that it was agreed that if Sarah won she should have as free
bench the land in ‘Brumford’ which she holds and in addition she should
have the half which she claims elsewhere. If she lost she should be
content with the land she now holds in ‘Brumford’.

Ralph comes and calls to warrant Ralph son of Godwin; let him have him
at Canterbury at the said term, by aid of the court. Old case.

339 Devon John of Lydford acknowledged that he held of Hugh of St.
Vedast 2 ploughlands in Gunstone and Waddon by service of 4 knight.
William Tusard likewise acknowledged that he held of Hugh 4 knight’s
fee in ‘Toteburne’ by service of 4 knight. Since Walter of Bath, to whom
Hugh sold the fees, is present by his proctor only, and since he ought to
take their homage for the fees, a day is given them at Canterbury in the
octave of Trinity to come and do homage. Same day given to Hugh of St.
Vedast, by his attorney, to levy chirograph.

340 Bucks. Roger de Wimbervill claims against Nicholas del Brok and
Emma his wife 2 parts of 4 a. meadow in Brokton [in Grove]; and against
Philip of Leighton and Emma his wife one third of 4 a. meadow in the
same vill, as his right, in which Nicholas and Emma and Philip and
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Emma had entry only by William del Brok, to whom Robert del Brok,
Roger’s uncle whose heir Roger is, granted them for a term which has
expired.
Nicholas and the others have come, and Philip and Emma call Nicholas
and Emma to warrant; they are present and warrant them and say that
they hold the meadow in fee and as Emma’s inheritance. They say that
William, Emma’s father, held the meadow in fee so that after his death it
descended to Emma as his daughter and heir. They also say that recently,
before the last itinerant justices at Newport Pagnel, they brought an
assize of novel disseisin against Roger about the meadow and recovered
their seisin of it as their free holding. They place themselves on a jury
that they hold the meadow in fee and as Emma’s inheritance, and that
William, Emma’s father, held the meadow in fee and not for a term.
Roger says that Robert del Brok his uncle, whose heir he is, granted
William the mowth of the meadow for one year, within which time
Robert died, and that he held the meadow for a term and not in fee. He
offers the king ¥4 mark for an inquest and recognisance. So the sheriff is
ordered that at the coming of the justices he should have jurors to say on
their oath whether Nicholas del Brok and Emma his wife had entry into 4
a. meadow in Brokton by William del Brok to whom Roger de
Wimbervill’s uncle devised it for a term which has expired, as Roger
says, or whether Nicholas and Emma had entry into the meadow by
Emma’s father William who held the meadow in fee and inheritance, as
Nicholas and Emma say. Old case.

See nos. 51, 264.

341 Herts. Essex Henry de Balliol and Laura his wife, Peter de Maune
and Christine his wife, and David Cumin and Isabel his wife, by their
attorneys, claim against Walter of Hempnall 40 a. land in Theydon, and
against Walter Alein 4 a. land in the same vill, and against Richarde the
weaver 10 a. land in the same vill, and against Thomas the carpenter 18
a. land in the same vill,and against Richard Dod 5 a. land in the same
vill, and against Thomas Serle 5 a. land in the same vill, and against
Geoffrey of Barnwell 5 a. land in the same vill, and against John de
Telpen 104 a. land in the same vill, and against Richard son of Walter 1
yardland and 6 a. land in the same vill, and against William son of
Robert 35 a. land in Bovingdon.

They all come and they all, except William son of Robert, seek a view.
They are to have it. Day given to them at the arrival of the justices. Since
William is under age let them wait for him to come of age.

342 Chadlington Assize of mort dancestor to declare whether Nicholas
son of William of Churchill, brother of Gunnild wife of William Pecok,
was seised of 174 a. land and a messuage in Churchill which William
Brun holds.

Afterwards William comes and seeks licence to withdraw from his writ,
and he has it.

343 The abbot of Bruern gives I mark for licence to agree with Roger
Gulafre; plea of land.
See no. 281; Oxon. Fines, 121.
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344 The abbot of Oseney appoints Simon son of Simon or Peter of
Sibford his attorney against William le Peignant, plea of land and
common of pasture; and against Peter Buckerel and Maud his wife, plea
of warranty of charter.

See nos. 77, 78, 589.

345 Essex William Mauduit of Terling acknowledges that he has
demised, granted, and by his charter confirmed to John Renger all his
land in the parish of Terling of the fee of Gilbert Mauduit and 8s. rent
which he received from Robert Prat; to have and to hold to John and his
heirs or assigns from the feast of the Ascension [9 May] 1241 for the 15
years next following, as is more fully contained in the writing made
between them.

See no. 334.

346 Oxon. Cecily wife of John of the mill apoints the same John her
attorney against the prioress of Studley; plea of land.
See no. 551.

347 Oxon. Mabel widow of Geoffrey of Appleton appoints Thomas of
Appleton or Norman of Appleton her attorney against the prior of
Deerhurst; plea of land.

See no. 419.

348 Oxon. John parson of the church of Churchill gives I mark for
licence to agree with Nicholas de Nowers, plea of land, by surety of
Bardulf of Chastleton.

See no. 113; Oxon Fines, 119-20.

349 Oxon The prior of Deerhurst gives Y2 mark for licence to agree
with Hugh at Water and Christine his wife; plea of land.
See Oxon. Fines, 119.

350 Yorks. Theobald de Bellius, by Thomas of Ramsden his attorney,
acknowledges that Roger of Thirkleby paid him in full 50 marks which
he owed him for 6 marks rent in ‘Ledemere’.

351 Oxon. Kent Walter [de Gray] archbishop of York appoints Alan of
Wassand his attorney against Joan Arsic; plea of warranty. Joan
appoints Stephen Simeon her attorney against the same about the same,
and against Thomas de Haya and Alexandra his wife, plea of land in
Kent.

Cf. Oxon. Fines, 115, 124-6.

m. 6d]

352 Northants. William son of Reynold of Morton claims against
Robert of Warden 2 a. land in Byfield; and against John son of Godwin,
who is under age, 6 a. land in the same vill; and against Roger the miller
half a mill and 1 rood of land in the same vill; and against Benet of Kent
and Isabel his wife 4 a. land in the same vill.
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They all come, and Robert calls to warrant Hugh son of John for 1 a.
land and Ralph of Marchamley for the other. Roger calls to warrant the
same Ralph, and Benet and Isabel call to warrant Philip son of Alard.
They are to have them at Westminster 15 days after Michaelmas by the
aid of the court. Since John is under age let him wait till he is of age.

See no. 431.

353 Leics. Richard son of Robert claims against John Cook 24
yardlands, 5 a. land and S5s. rent in Walton as his right, of which his
kinswoman Millicent, whose heir he is, was seised on the day she died.
He says that Roger le Chevaler, Millicent’s predecessor, had 3 sons,
Gilbert, Simon, and William. From Gilbert the eldest the right to the
land descended to Millicent as daughter and heir, who died seised 2 years
ago. She died without heir of her body, and the right in the land reverted
to Simon her uncle, from whom it descended to his son Theodulph who
died seised without heir of his body, so that the right in the land reverted
to William his uncle. From William the right descended to his son and
heir Robert, and from Robert to his son and heir Richard, who now
claims.

John comes and denies force and injury, and says that Millicent did not
die seised of the land, for he says that she, being of full age and in her
lawful power, gave John himself the land, long before he married her. In
the eyre of William Ralegh ‘and Robert Lexington in Warwickshire at
Coventry Theodulph impleaded John alone, without Millicent, of the
land, before he married her; John called Millicent to warrant the land,
and she came and warranted him. A long time afterwards he married her.
And that John was impleaded alone and that he called Millicent to
warrant, he puts himself on the rolls of that eyre.

Richard says that John was named alone in the writ, but that he came
into court and said that he could not answer without his wife Millicent,
whose right and inheritance it was, and that John thus withdrew from
that writ by the judgement of the court before the justices, he places
himself on the rolls of that eyre.

Day given to them at Westminster 15 days after Michaelmas so that the
rolls can be searched.

354 Norfolk The prior of Shouldham was summoned to answer Adam
Smith and Emma his wife on a plea of why he deforced them of 3 a. land
and 2s. 6d. rent in Shouldham which ought to remain to Emma as heir of
Ingenold of Shouldham and Alinthe his wife, by fine made in the court
of Richard I before the itinerant justices at Ipswich between Ingenold
and Alinthe, claimants, and Peter the reeve, tenant, of 50 a. land in
Shouldham. A plea before the last itinerant justices at Cattishall between
the same Adam and Emma, claimants, and Roger son of Richard, who
said he was Peter’s heir, deforciant, about the same 3 a. land and the rent
by the king’s writ de fine facto was adjourned without day because Roger
recognised that he was the prior’s villein.
The prior came by his attorney and claimed a view.
Day given to them at Canterbury 3 weeks after Trinity. O/d case.

See Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 2053.
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355 Alice widow of Henry of Ullenhall, by her attorney, presented
herself on the 4th day against Peter de Valle, plea of one third of 20 a.
land in Tamworth; and against Roger Toky, plea of one third of 3 a. land
in the same vill; and against Simon de Aldoluestre, plea of one third of
10s. <6d.> rent in ‘Aldoluestre’. All of which she claims in dower.
They have not come. And they were summoned. So it is adjudged that
the third parts be taken into the king’s hand. They are summoned to be
at Canterbury 15 days after Trinity. O/d case.
See nos. 280, 321.

356 Bucks. Geoffrey Dunning and Alice his wife and Emma and Eve,
Alice’s sisters, presented themselves on the 4th day against William
Halfrenchisse and Custance his wife; plea of one third of 14 furlong of
land (in Chalfont St. Peter) which Alice and Emma and Eve claim as
their right. William and Custance have not come, and they were
summoned. So it is adjudged that the third part be taken into the king’s
hand. They are summoned to be at Canterbury 15 days after Trinity.
They all appoint Geoffrey their attorney. Old case.

357 Wilts. Nicholas, parson of Esy, was attached to answer Ralph of
Latton on a plea of why he brought Ralph into court Christian because
Ralph was a recognitor in an assize of novel disseisin which William de
Esy brought against Nicholas before Reynold of Calne, William Gilbert,
Richard Pagsfolt, and Hamon of Beckhampton, the king’s justices, over
a tenement in Esy. Ralph claims that when, on the vigil of St. Denis this
year, he brought Nicholas the king’s prohibition against proceeding
further in the plea he, notwithstanding the prohibition, pursued his plea,
whereby Ralph was injured and suffered damages to the value of 100s.
Nicholas comes and denies force and injury against him and his suit. So
it is adjudged that he should wage his /aw and defend himself with 12
hands, and that he should come with his law to Lambeth on Monday
after Ascension Day. Sureties for the law: Laurence le Brun and Robert
de Thornbergh.

358 Hunts. William of Wells, canon of Leighton Bromswold, was
attached to answer William of Salome on a plea that he allow him to
have a certain way which he ought to have in the land of William of
Wells in Salome wood [in Leighton Bromswold] from Salome road along
the middle of the hedge to Eastbreche. William of Salome claims he
ought to have a way along the hedge to carry his corn back and forth and
William obstructs him, whence he suffers damage to the value of 10s.
William of Wells comes by his attorney and says that William of Salome
ought not and used not to have any way there, nor did his predecessors,
unless they had it by the permission and at the will of the canons of
Leighton Bromswold or their bailiffs. He puts himself on the country,
and William of Salome does likewise.

So the sheriff is ordered to have 12 men at Westminster 15 days after
Michaelmas to say on oath whether William of Salome ought and used to
have a way through the land of William of Wells, canon of Leighton
Bromswold, in Salome wood from Salome road along the middle of the
hedge to Eastbreche as an appurtenance of his free holding until 1230-1,
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which William of Wells obstructed, or whether he and his predecessors
had the way by the will and permission of William of Wells and his
predecessors, canons of Leighton Bromswold, and their bailiffs, as
William says.

m. 7]

359 Henry de Bologano claims against Walter de Bologano 20 a. land
in ‘La Sera’ into which Walter had no entry except by Roger de Scaccario
to whom Henry demised it for a term which has expired. Walter comes,
and they agree by licence and have a chirograph.

360 Gloucs. Beatrice widow of Nicholas Malesmayns, by her attorney,
claims against the prior of Bradenstoke one third of 4 yardlands in
Fairford as her dower. The prior comes by his attorney and calls to
warrant Rose, Ela, and Joan, daughters and heirs of Nicholas
Malesmayns. Rose and Ela are in the guardianship of John de Plescy, so
their guardian is to be summoned to be at Canterbuery 3 weeks after
Trinity and to have the said heirs to warrant the land. Joan, the third
sister, lives overseas and has nothing in England.
See no. 250.

361 Dorset The same Beatrice claims against Ralph, parson of
Monkton Up Wimborne and against Edward King, and against John
Elyat one third of 1 ploughland in Kinson as her dower. They all come by
their attorneys and by licence give her back the third part; let her have
her seisin.

362 Dorset The same Beatrice presented herself on the 4th day against
John de Plescy, plea of one third of 1 ploughland in Monkton Up
Wimborne, Dorset; and against the same John, plea of one third of 14
hides in Horley, Surrey; and against James de Bolingham (and John
Hanin), plea of one third of 1 hide and 1 messuage in the same vill; and
against Robert Malesmayns, plea of one third of 4 hide in the same vill;
and against Walter de Godarvill and Hilary his wife, plea of one third of
9 yardlands and a mill in Burton Latimer, Northants. She claims all these
third parts as her dower. They have not come, and they were summoned.
Adjudged that the third parts be taken into the king’s hand. They are
summoned to be at Canterbury 3 weeks after Trinity.

363 The abbot of Missenden, by his attorney, claimed against John de
North and Elviva his wife 6 a. meadow in Kingsey as the right of his
church of Missenden. John and Elviva come and claim a view, and they
have it. Day given to them at Westminster 2 weeks after Michaelmas.

See no. 296.

364 Salop Peter son of Roger presented himself on the 4th day against
William son of John, plea that he keep the fine made before the itinerant
justices at Shrewsbury betweeen William, claimant, and Peter, tenant, of
2 yardlands in Heath, whence a chirograph was made. William has not
come, and he was attached by Eustace de Furcis and Henry de Roches.
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So let him be placed under better sureties to be at Westminster 15 days
after Michaelmas 1241. O/d case.

365 Berks. Simon son of John claims against William Wich one third
of 1 hide, except the capital messuage and 1 a., in Abingdon, into which
William had no entry except by Agnes la Chalinere, Simon’s
grandmother, whose heir he is, who demised it for a term which has
expired. William comes and says that he does not hold the land, since
Benet of the Larder holds 4 a. and Simon holds 1 rood. Afterwards
Simon came and prayed for licence to withdraw from his writ, and he has
it.

366 Oxon. Alice daughter of Richard appoints John Blancbuilli her
attorney against Christine daughter of Richard, plea of land; and against
Robert of Mapledurham and Peter the miller and Emma his wife, plea of
assize of mort dancestor.

See no. 434.

367 William de Dive claimed against Ralph Hareng and Alice his wife 2
parts of one third of 2 knights’ fees in Deddington, except the advowson
of the church, 1 messuage, a fishery, (3 mills), and 3 yardlands. And
against the same Ralph and Alice and Beatrice Murdac, Alice’s sister
whom Eve de Gray called to warrant, one third of 2 parts of one third of
2 knights’ fees in Deddington, except the advowson of the church, 1
messuage, a fishery, 3 mills, and 3 yardlands in the same vill, as his right,
of which William his ancestor was seised in demesne as of fee and right in
the time of Henry II, taking profits worth 4 mark. From William the
right in that land descended to Roger as son and heir, and from Roger,
who died without heir of his body, the right reverted to Hugh his uncle,
William’s brother. From Hugh the right descended to Ralph as son and
heir, and from Ralph to Lettice [Lucy] as daughter and heir, and from
Lettice [Lucy] to William [de Dive] as son and heir. And that such is his
right he offers to prove.

Ralph and the others come, and Ralph and Alice say that they cannot
answer about the 2 parts which he claims against them without Beatrice
Murdac, Alice’s sister who shares with Alice in the inheritance of Ralph
Murdac their father, whose heirs they are. So the sheriff is ordered to
summon her to be at Canterbury 3 weeks after Trinity to answer Ralph
and Alice, as the said Beatrice was present only by her proctor to make
the warranty. And of the third part which they warranted they say they
cannot answer without the king, since they say that Henry II gave Ralph
Murdac their father all Deddington by his charter which they proffer:
Henry, by the grace of God king of England etc. Know that I have given
and by this my charter confirmed to Ralph Murdac all Deddington, to
him and his heirs to hold of me and my heirs by service of 2 knights.
Wherefore I wish and firmly command that Ralph and his heirs after him
may have and hold the whole of Deddington of me and my heirs, well
and in peace, freely and quietly, wholly and fully and honourably with
all its appurtances and liberties and free customs, etc.

And William says that the charter ought not to harm him, since he ways
that Ralph (Murdac) had entry into the said land by Guy de Dive who
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married Lucy de Dive, ancestress of William and right heir of William de

Chesney since she was descended from his brother and Ralph from his

sister.

Day given them to hear judgement at Canterbury 3 weeks after Trinity.
See nos. 428, 506; Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, nos. 228, 939-40, 2041; Bk.

of Fees, 821. .

368 Bullingdon Assize of mort dancestor to declare whether Maud
daughter of William, mother of Mary wife of William of Wallingford
and of Christine wife of John Eymer and of Mabel of Sandford, was
seised of a messuage in Sandford [on Thames] which Adam le Passur and
Maud his wife hold. They come and call to warrant Robert of Sandford,
knight, who is in the Holy Land; so he is summoned to be at the arrival
of the justices.

369 Bampton Assize of nuisance to declare whether John of Hinksey,
Richard son of Ralph, Jordan son of Richard, William son of Walter,
Gilbert Serjeant, and Roger son of William knocked down a hedge in
Clanfield to the nuisance of Richard son of John’s free holding in the
vill. They all come and say nothing to stay the assize.

The jurors say that they all except Roger knocked down the hedge as the
writ says. So it is adjudged that he should recover his seisin by view, and
the others are in mercy. Richard is likewise in mercy for a false plea
against Roger. Damages 6d.

370 Wilts. Richard Doget, essoiner of Warin FitzGerald, presented
himself on the 4th day against William of Durnford, plea that he keep
the covenant made between them about 2 ploughlands in Durnford.
William has not come; and he is to be summoned. Judgement: to be
attached to be there at the arrival of the justices. Old case.

371 Hunts. Day given to Ralph de Mortimer, claimant, and Humphrey
de Bohun, earl of Hereford, to hear judgement; summoned to
Westminster 15 days after Michaelmas because judgement has not yet
been made. The earl appoints Humphrey de Bolinton or Henry de Pont
de I’ Arches his attorney. Similarly with Michael de Cheldrinton whom he
had first appointed his attorney.

And against Maud of Heybridge, plea of land, and against William of
Bobbingworth, plea of wardship.

372 Northants. Day given to the abbot of Croxton Kerrial, by his
attorney, claimant, and William of Haddington and Avice his wife, plea
of custom, at Westminster 15 days from Michaelmas 1241, at the prayer
of the parties. Avice appoints William her attorney. Brother Richard,
monk of Croxton, and Thomas de Whelham are the abbot’s attorneys by
the king’s writ.

373 Day given to Laurence del Brok, claimant, and William of
Haverhill guardian of Robert del Brok, to hear judgement on a plea of
novel disseisin, Monday next after Ascension day, because judgement
has not yet been made.
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374 Rutland Master Hugh, parson of ‘Ketele’ [Ketton], appoints
William de Potubi his attorney against Richard de Lindon; plea of
fishery.

See no. 650.

375 Warws. Parnel of Compton appoints William de Bromerton her
attorney against Nicola widow of Simon Bagot; plea of dower.
See no. 650.

m. 7d.]

376 Suffolk William le Breton claims against Margery de Bleville 1
ploughland, except 10 a., in ‘Istede’ as his right. Margery comes and
claims a view thereof, and has it. Day given them at Lambeth, Monday
after Ascension day. Margery appoints Simon de Hemsted or Walter son
of Roger her attorney.

See Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, nos. 903, 964, 998.

377 The prior of Wroxton was summoned to answer Master Simon de
Wanton on a plea that he acquit his land in Balscott of suit to county and
hundred, whereof he ought to acquit it. The prior comes and
acknowledges that he ought to acquit Master Simon’s land, and freely
acquits him. So he is told that he should acquit it. So without day.

378 Suffolk Walter Punt claimed before the last itinerant justices at
Ipswich against Alan son of Alan of Withersdale 12 a. land in
Withersdale as his right. In that court Alan objected that Walter could
have no right in the land because he was a bastard. So the case was sent
to the bishop of Norwich where Walter proved that he was born of
lawful wedlock. The bishop showed the same by his letters patent, so the
plea was re-opened. And Alan now comes < has not come>, and so it is
adjudged that Walter recover his seisin and Alan in mercy. Let him have
his seisin. Old case.

379 Essex The abbess of Barking was summoned to answer Humphrey
de Bohun earl of Hereford on a plea that she return to him custody of 6
a. wood and 2 parts of 26 a. land in Rowhedge which belong to him in
that Ralph de Berners held that land and wood of him by knight service.
He says that by that detention he has suffered damage to the value of
100s.

The abbess comes by her attorney and denies force and injury and says
that the earl claims the custody unjustly, since Ralph held the wood and
land of her by service of 4d. a year, and not of the earl. Thereon she puts
herself on the country, and that in the year in which he died he paid her
4d. for the wood and land.

The earl, by his attorney, says that Ralph held of him by knight service,
and he offers the king I mark for an inquest, and the money is received.
So let there by a jury.

The sheriff is ordered to have 12 men at the arrival of the justices to
declare on oath whether Ralph held the wood and land of the earl by
knight service, as the earl says, or whether he held them of the abbess by
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service of 4d. a year as the abbess says. And be it known that the abbess
agreed that if the jury found that Ralph held the wood and land of the
earl by knight service that she should lose the service of 4d.

The same earl, by his attorney, presented himself on the 4th day against
Rayner of Bungay on a plea that he return to him custody of a house and
2 parts of 34 a. land in Rowhedge which belong to him in that Ralph de
Berners held that house and land of him by knight service. Rayner has
not come, and he was attached by William Green and William Finche. So
he is to be placed under better sureties to be at Lambeth on the Sunday
after Ascension day. Writ.

Cf. no. 65.

380 Warwick Nicola widow of Simon Bagot, by her attorney, presented
herself on the 4th day against Isabel Bagot, plea of one third of 8
yardlands in Compton, which she claims as her dower. Isabel has not
come, and she was summoned. Judgement: the third part is to be taken
into the king’s hand. Isabel is summoned to be at Lambeth on the
Sunday after Ascension day.

381 Bucks. Alice widow of Gilbert le Rus presented herself on the 4th
day against William son of Alexander, plea of one third of 24 a. land
and 12d. rent in Sherington; and against Rannulph le Franceis, plea of
one third of 1 a. land in the same vill; and against Richard son of Ellis
< Gervase>, plea of one third of 14 a. land in the same vill; and against
Simon of Sherington, plea of one third of 1 a. land in the same vill; and
against Simon son of Richard, plea of one third of 1 a. land in the same
vill, and against William son of Martin, plea of one third of 1 a. land in
the same vill; and against William of Clapham, plea of one third of 4 a.
land in the same vill; and against Adam son of Stephen, plea of one third
of 1 rood of land in the same vill; which third parts she claims as her
dower. '

They have not come, and they were summoned. Judgement: the third
parts are to be taken into the king’s hand. They are to be summoned to
be at Canterbury 15 days after Trinity. Old case.

382 Devon Martin the constable and Agnes his wife presented
themselves on the 4th day against Robert of Sydenham, plea of one third
of 1 ploughland and 1 messuage in Tiverton which they claim as Agnes’s
dower. Robert has not come, and he was summoned. Judgement: the
land is to be taken into the king’s hand. He is summoned to be at
Canterbury 15 days after Trinity. Old case. Cancelled.

See no. 172; Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 1910.

Entry crossed out.

383 Roger de Scacccario acknowledges that he owes Henry of Belgrave
4 marks of a fine made between them, of which he will pay him 2 marks
on the feast of St. Peter ad Vincula [1 August], and 2 marks at
Michaelmas [29 September] next following, 1241. And if he does not do
s0, he grants that the sheriff may do so from his lands.
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384 Hunts. Simon son of William de Ponte presented himself on the
4th day against the abbot of Crowland, plea of why he took Simon’s
beasts and unjustly kept them. The abbot has not come, and he had a day
by his essoin to this day. So he is attached to be at Canterbury 15 days
after Trinity. Old case.

385 Banbury Assize of mort dancestor to declare whether Robert
Alfthein [Hautein], brother of Richard was seised of [2
messuages—crossed out] 4 yardland [and 3 a. and 11s. rent-crossed out]
in Banbury which Richard son of Gilbert holds. He comes and says that
he does not hold that land, since Margery his mother holds it. She comes
and they are agreed by licence. The agreement is that Margery give up all
the property and Robert will give her each year of her life half the corn
which he harvests on that land. And he will acquit the land and defend it
against the chief lords.
Cf. no.522.

386 Bloxham Assize of novel disseisin to declare whether John of
Harwell, the prior of Noyon, and Nicholas de Limis unjustly disseised
Simon of Harwell of 3 yardlands less 4 a. in Bodicote. John comes and
says nothing to stay the assize. The prior and Nicholas have not come,
nor were they attached or found, nor did they have anything there by
which they could be attached. So the assize is taken against them by
default.

The jurors say that John and the others did not disseise Siimon. So it is
adjudged that Simon take nothing by that assize,and he is in mercy for a
false claim. The others without day.

Cf. Oxon Fines, p. 137.

387 Ploughley A jury comes to declare whether 6 yardlands in Finmere
are free alms belonging to the church of Rannulf parson of Finmere or
the lay fee of William du Boys. William comes and calls to warrant the
abbot of St. Augustine’s Bristol. Let him have him at Westminster 15
days after Michaelmas by aid of the court. He is to be summoned in
Gloucestershire.

See no. 121; cf. no. 670.

388 Banbury The prior of Clattercote, who brought an assize of novel
disseisin about a watercourse in Mollington against John Kachelewe, has
not prosecuted, so he and his sureties for prosecuting in mercy, that is
Robert White and John the carter of Middleton.

See no. 258.

389 Wootton Assize of novel disseisin to declare whether Rose of
Begbroke and William her son unjustly disseised John Punzard of 1 a.
meadow in Begbroke. Rose comes and says nothing to stay the assize.
William has not come, nor was he attached since he was not found. So let
the assize be taken against him by default.

The jury say that Rose and William disseised John. So it is adjudged that
John recover his seisin, and Rose and William are in mercy.
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390 Chadlington Assize of novel disseisin to declare whether Robert
son of Aluric disseised Erneburga of Swinbrook of a garden in
Swinbrook. Robert comes and says that she is in seisin of the garden and
that he has not disseised her, and thereon he puts himself on the assize.
The jury say that Robert did not disseise her. So it is adjudged that
Robert go without day, and Erneburga is in mercy.

Cf. no. 579.

391 Lincs. Day given to Henry de Capella, claimant, and John of
Catesby < William son of Drew>; custom and service, 15 days after
Michaelmas at Westminster, at the prayer of the parties, and Henry
appoints John of Trumpington his attorney against William and others
in the writ in Hampshire.

Text based on JUST 1/696; JUST 1/695 illegible.

m. 8]

392 Chadlington Assize of novel disseisin to declare whether Richard
of Wolford disseised Gilbert son of Gilbert of a messuage in Chipping
Norton. Richard comes and says nothing to stay the assize.

The jury say that Richard disseised Gilbert, so let him have his seisin by
view,and Richard is in mercy. Damages 2s.

393 Chadlington Assize of mort dancestor to declare whether William
Warte, father of William Warte, was seised in his demesne as of fee of
34 a. land and 14 a. and 1 rood meadow in Walcot, which Peter de
Malesmayns and Margery his wife and Avice of Walcot hold. Peter and
Margery come and say that they do not hold the land or meadow, except
34 a. land, and that William can have no right in that land because he is
a bastard. So the assize remains. The bishop of Lincoln is ordered to
enquire into the truth of the matter and make it known by his letters
patent. Avice has not come, so let the assize remain against her, whatever
may be found as to William’s bastardy.

Afterwards William comes and acknowledges that Avice is his mother
and that she holds the meadow he claims in dower, and that he is the
warrantor of her dower. So let Avice hold it in peace.

394 Binfield Assize of novel disseisin to declare whether Robert de
Wantham, Reynold his son, William of Arundel, Walter de Wantham,
and Walter Sturdy disseised William parson of Fawley of 1 a. meadow in
Henley. Robert, Reynold, and William come and say nothing to stay the
assize. Walter and Walter have not come, nor were they attached because
they were not found.

The jury say that Robert and all the others disseised William; so let him
have his seisin by view. Robert and the others in mercy. Damages 12d.

395 Wootton Gilbert son of William of Hempton gives Y2 mark for
licence to agree with William of Hempton; plea of assize of mort
dancestor, by surety of Walter the tailor of Clifton and Henry de Mare
of the same.
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396 Dorchester The abbot of Eynsham was summoned to answer Roger
de Hide on a plea that he allow him his piggery in the abbot’s wood of
Woodcote, of which he says he was seised as of fee and right in the time
of King John, and thereon he produces suit.

The abbot comes and says that he ought not to answer this writ, since the
writ contains only the plea that the abbot allow Roger his piggery in his
wood, and does not name any rent, nor does Roger offer to prove his
right according to the custom of the kingdom. The abbot claims
judgement. Since Roger did not name any rent nor offer to prove his
right or his seisin against the abbot, and his writ is of right, it is adjudged
that the abbot go without day, and Roger is in mercy for a false plea.

See no. 238; Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 2044.

397 Chadlington Fulk son of Benet gives I mark for licence to agree

with William son of Fulk, plea of assize of mort dancestor, by surety of

John of Longborough and Nicholas son of le Chevaler of Chastleton.
See Oxon. Fines, 122-3.

398 Dorchester Reynold son of Simon of Drayton, who brought an
assize of novel disseisin against the abbot of Dorchester, Richard the
priest, and others, comes and withdraws. So he and his sureties for
prosecuting are in mercy, namely Walter of Clifton and William of
Stafford.

399 Wootton Assize of mort dancestor to declare whether Henry the
scrivener, father of Alan son of Henry, was seised on the day he set out
on pilgrimage for Jerusalem <the Holy Land> of a toft in Steeple
Aston which Alan le Rummeney holds. Alan comes and says nothing to
stay the assize. The jury say that Henry was not seised of the toft on the
day he set out on pilgrimage. So it is adjudged that Alan go without day
and Alan [son of Henry] is in mercy for a false plea. He is poor.

400 Wallingford Assize of mort dancestor to declare whether Henry
Foster, father of Basilia, was seised on the day he died of 12 a. land in
Aston [Rowant] which Alice at Well and Geoffrey her son hold.
Geoffrey comes and says he holds the whole of the land and his mother
holds nothing there. Geoffrey, by licence, gives the land back to Basilia;
let her have her seisin.

401 Chadlington Assize of novel disseisin to declare whether William
son of Robert unjustly disseised Richard son of Robert of 1 a. land and a
messuage in [Chipping] Norton. William has not come, nor was he
attached, so let the sheriff answer for his sureties, and the assize be taken
against him by default.

The jury say that William disseised Richard. So let him have his seisin by
view, and William is in mercy. Damages 12d.

402 Banbury Alice of Wardington, who brought a writ of novel
disseisin against John at Well for a holding in Wardington, came and
withdrew and made fine for herself and her sureties for Y2 mark, by
surety of Savary of Walcot.
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403 Norfolk, Suffolk Roger of Thirkleby presented himself on the 4th
day against Adam Merchant, Robert de Courtenay, Robert de Strettus,
Walter son of Odo, Henry de Gosenhale, Warin Barnard, Robert
Joseph, William Lenygive, Thomas of Brampton, William Franceis,
William of Brampton, Roger le Hunte, John del Brok of Weston, Robert
le Legistre, Bartholomew Cove, Richard his son, Thomas son of John de .
Redesham, Hugh de Sket, Alexander Pitman, Hugh le Blund of
Sharnford, Alan Jordan, Roger son of Roger of Brampton, Simon son
of Hugh de Stoweno, Walter son of Geoffrey of the same, William Pais
of Wiggenhall, William son of Botild de Stoweno, and William Platon de
Stodle; plea that they render him £20 which they owe him and unjustly
withhold. They have not come, and have made frequent defaults. So the
sheriff is ordered to take all their lands into the king’s hand, except for
their personal chattels. he is to have them at Lambeth on the Sunday
after Ascension Day.

404 Northants. Margery widow of Richard le Rus claims against
Hawise of Chester one third of 43s. rent in Long Buckby as her dower.
And Hawise, by her attorney, comes and claims a view. Day given to
them at Canterbury 15 days after Trinity. Old case.

See Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 2017.

405 Notts. John de Gatton presented himself on the 4th day against
Thomas son of William; plea that he restore to him the custody of 2
ploughlands in Clipston which belong to him in that Ralph de Rocheford
held them of him by knight service. Thomas has not come, and he had a
day by his essoin, to this day. So let him be attached to be at Canterbury
15 days after Trinity. Old case.

See Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 2393.

406 Oxon. Agnes of Maidwell claims against Robert le Summoner and
Felicity his wife 1 yardland in South Newington as her right, in which
Robert had entry only by Richequena of Newington to whom William de
Chesney, Agnes’s father whose heir she is, granted it for a term which
has expired. Robert comes and Agnes seeks licence to withdraw, and she
has it.

407 Essex Ralph Cubum acknowledges that he owes Henry de Balliol
and Laura his wife and his parceners 24 marks of a fine made between
them, of which he will pay them 12 marks at the feast of St. John the
Baptist [24 June] 1241 and 12 marks at the following Easter. And if he
does not do so, he grants that the sheriff may do so from his lands.

See no. 335.

408 Suffolk, Norfolk Day given to Margery widow of Hubert
Gernegan, claimant, and Hugh Gernegan, tenant, to levy chirograph, at
Lambeth, Sunday after Ascension day. Margery appoints John de
Marewin her attorney.

See no. 231; Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 2343.
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409 Bucks. Alice widow of Roger Miller claims against Laurence le
Brun one third of 1 yardland in ‘Conesgrave’ as her dower. Laurence
comes, and they are agreed by licence that she should surrender to him all
her right for 1 mark.

410 Lincs. Robert de Lexington ordered the justices that John son of
Osbert of Lincoln, who is old and infirm, appoint an attorney in the case
before them at Oxford between him and the master of the Knights
Templar in England.

See no. 445.

411 Oxon. Robert de Pultne gives 2 mark for licence to agree with
Nicholas of Cassington; plea of land, by surety of the same Nicholas.
See Oxon Fines, 119.

m. 8d.]

412 Northants. Ralph Basset and Geoffrey of Appleby, by their
attorneys, presented themselves on the 4th day against Isabel de Brus;
plea that she acquit them of one sixth of a debt of £100, for which John
late earl of Chester, brother of Isabel and uncle of Devorguilla, whose
heirs they are, placed them in a plea against Robert son of Richard, and
they have not acquitted them. They have not come, and they were
summoned. It is adjudged that they be attached to be at Canterbury 15
days after Trinity. Isabel is to be distrained in Huntingdonshire.
See no. 226.

413 Beds. Adam son of William of Melchbourne claims against
Thomas son of Robert of Melchbourne 12 a. land in Melchbourne as his
right, in which Thomas only had entry by Hugh son of Laurence to
whom Adam granted it for a term which has expired.

Thomas comes and denies force and injury and says that he only holds 8
a. since Maud, Hugh’s widow, holds 4 a. in dower. Since Adam claims
against him all the land which he holds in demesne as in service, he says
that he cannot claim anything of the 8 a., since Hugh’s father, Laurence,
held the land and died seised of it, and after his death Hugh held it and
died seised without heir of his body, so that the right descended to
Robert brother and heir of Hugh and father of Thomas. Wherefore he
says that neither Adam nor his father was ever seised of that land so that
they could grant it to anyone. Moreover, he says that Hugh his uncle
once impleaded Adam of 4 a. in the court of Melchbourne, and it was
agreed between them there that Adam return to Hugh the 4 a. in dispute.
Thereon he puts himself on the country.

Adam says that William his father died seised, so that after his death
Adam himself was seised for 6 years, and afterwards he demised the land
to Hugh for a term. And that Hugh had seisin by such an entry he puts
himself on the country. Thomas likewise. So the sheriff is ordered to
have 12 men at the arrival of the justices to declare whether Thomas had
entry into the land by Hugh son of Laurence his uncle to whom Adam
granted it for a term which has expired, as Adam says, or whether
Thomas had entry by Hugh who held 8 a. of the land by hereditary right
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and 4 a. by agreement made between Hugh and Adam in the court of
Melchbourne, as Thomas says.
Beds. Hist. Rec. Soc. ix. 138.

414 Northants. John Malesoures < Malheure> and Lettice his wife, by
their attorney, claim against Hugh Cubum < Gubmon> 1 yardland
except 1 messuage and 4 a. in Cotes as Lettice’s right, whereof she herself
was seised as of fee and right in the time of the present king, taking
profits therefrom to the value of 4 mark. And that such is her right she
offers [to prove].
Hugh, by his attorney, comes and denies force and injury and Lettice’s
seisin. And he places himself on the king’s grand assize and claims a
recognition whether he has a greater right to hold that land in demesne,
or John and Lettice to hold of him.
Nicholas de Nowers (sworn), John le Brun (sworn), Robert son of Ralph
(sworn), Richard of Hendred (sworn) 4 knights chosen to elect 12 men,
come and choose these: Luke de Cubum, Roger of Missenden, Henry de
Alney, Ralph Barre, Ralph of Titchmarsh, Henry of Isham, Alan of
Maidwell, Miles de Beauchamp, William of Weston, Walter son of
Simon de Daunic, Robert Wolf de Esse, William de Daunicre, Thomas
of Titchmarsh, Henry of Drayton, Richard of Irchester, John Dyen.
Day given them at the arrival of the justices, and let the 12 come then.
See no. 227.

415 Alan (Basset) gives 20s. for licence to agree with William of
Englefield; plea of warranty of charter, by surety of the same William.
See no. 225.

416 John Sundy gives I mark for licence to agree with Isabel de Bolbec
countess of Oxford; plea of land by surety of Laurence del Brok.
See no. 251; Oxon. Fines, 111.

417 Chiltern John Sundy and Emma his wife, who brought an assize of
novel disseisin for common of pasture in Crowmarsh Gifford against the
same countess, came and withdrew, so he and his sureties for prosecuting
in mercy, namely Robert of Mapledurham, Robert de la Greyhone.
Sureties of John’s amercement, Laurence del Brok and William de Port
of Crowmarsh.

See no. 251.

418 Oxon. Warin FitzGerald appoints Geoffrey del Pek his attorney
against Henry de Scaccario (and Parnel); plea of waste. And against
Laurence de Scaccario and Helen his wife and their parceners; plea of
mort dancestor.

See nos. 177, 611.

419 Oxon. The prior of Deerhurst claims against Thomas of Appleton
1(4) a. meadow in Northmoor. And against Mabel of Appleton 1 a.
meadow in the same vill, as the right of his church, whereof Richard his
predecessor was seised in demesne as of fee and right in the time of
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Henry II, taking profits therefrom to the value of + mark. And that such
is his right he offers [to prove].
Thomas and Mabel come and Mabel calls Thomas to warrant; he
warrants her and answers for the whole, and denies force and injury and
Richard’s seisin. And he places himself on the king’s grand assize and
claims a recognition which of them has the greater right in that meadow.
He offers the king 2 mark to have notice of the year and day of the
assize, and it is received. Robert de Wantham and Robert Purcel and
William Wace and Peter Oliver, 4 knights chosen to elect 12 men, come
and choose these: John Medicus, [Ralph Saucey, Richard Foliot of
Rousham-crossed out], Richard Prescote, Ralph of Sandford, Geoffrey
le Quelter, William de Scalebrok, Bartholomew Foliot, William
Quatermains, William Monk, Ellis de Huntefeld, Alexander of Combe,
and Roger Gernun. Who come and say on their oath that Thomas has
more right in the meadow than the prior, and that Richard the prior’s
predecessor was not seised of the meadow in the reign of Henry II.
So it is adjudged that Thomas and his heirs should hold the meadow in
peace for ever, without any claim from the prior or his successors. And
the prior in mercy, sureties Stephen of Northmoor and Adam of
Northmoor.

See nos. 117, 347.

420 The abbot of Dorchester gives /0s. for licence to agree with Robert
of Little Holcombe; plea of land, by surety of the same Robert.
See no. 282

421 Yorks. Richard de Gaham gives I mark for licence to agree with
Walter de Hemmington and Joan his wife; plea of land, by surety of
Laurence del Broc.

See nos. 70, 474.

422 Ploughley William Puignant, who brought an assize of novel
disseisin against the abbot of Oseney and many others over the levelling
of a dike and common of pasture in Weston on the Green, comes and
withdraws himself, so he and his sureties for prosecuting in mercy,
namely Guy of Tusmore and Alan of the same, Robert <Ralph> of
Deddington and Adam de Gay.

423 The same abbot, who brought an assize of novel disseisin against
the same William over the same, comes and withdraws himself, so he and
his sureties for prosecuting in mercy, namely John of Hampton and
William Young of the same.

424 Worcs. William (son of Walter) de Beauchamp gives 40s. for
licence to agree with Wlalter de Cantilupe] bishop of Worcester about
custom and service, by surety of the same bishop. And the agreement is
as follows: William recognizes that he holds of the bishop 15 knights’
fees in Worcestershire, Gloucestershire, and Oxfordshire, and that he
owes the bishop £50 of which he will pay him or his representative £8 6s.
8d. at Easter 1242, £8 6s. 8d. the following Michaelmas, and so from
year to year at the same terms until the debt is paid.
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425 William de Cantilupe appoints Nicholas Menerel his attorney
against William Neyrnuyt, plea of warranty of charter. And against a
certain woman who claims her dower against him.

See no. 220.

426 William son of William Morin and Margery his wife appoint
William Morin their attorney against Stephen de Stallis and Hawise his
wife; plea of land.

Cf. no. 188.

427 Roger of Leybourne appoints Ralph the Bastard his attorney
against Alan of Aston; plea of custom and service.
See no. 653.

m. 9]

428 Eve de Gray, by her attorney, claims against William de, Dive one
third of the advowson of the church of Deddington, a fishpond, 1
yardland, and a mill, as her dower from Ralph Murdac, her former
husband.
William comes and says that she ought not to have her dower there or be
able to claim it, since, he says, that in the time of King Richard she was
dowered with all the lands and holdings which Ralph had, so that she was
satisfied and content with them all the time of King Richard and King
John, and the time of Henry III until she started this plea against him.
Moreover, he says that he cannot answer her without the king, since, he
says, Henry II gave William de Chesney the whole of Deddington by his
charter in these words: H[enry] king of England, duke of Normandy and
Aquitaine, count of Anjou, to the bishop of Lincoln and all his justices
and barons and sheriffs and ministers and faithful men of Oxfordshire,
greeting. Know that I have given William de Chesney the whole of
Deddington, and I wish and firmly order that William and his heirs may
have and hold the whole of Deddington of me and my heirs, with all its
liberties and customs and appurtenances, peaceably, freely, and
honourably. Witness, etc.
Day given them to hear judgement at Canterbury, 3 weeks after Trinity.
See nos. 367, 506; Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, nos. 228, 939-40, 2041.

429 Wi/illiam] Ralegh, bishop of Norwich, was summoned to reply to
Otnell de Lisle, plea that he render him Giles, son and heir of Robert de
Lisle, and his land in Stokes, wardship of which belongs to him because
Robert held of him by knight service. Otnell, by his attorney, says that
although Robert on the day he died held his land in Stokes of him by
knight service so that the wardship ought to belong to him as chief lord
of the fee, the bishop unjustly kept the wardship himself, whence he has
suffered damage to the value of £100. [And Richard de Hotoft, who was
advocate, in mercy-added later]

The bishop comes by his attorney and calls to warrant Isabel, countess of
Oxford, who now comes by summons and warrants him, and denies
force and injury. And she offers the king 40s. to have a view, and the



THE OXFORDSHIRE EYRE, 1241 57

view is appointed, namely Robert Purcel, Eustace Purcel, Robert son of
Robert Purcel.
And the countess says that Robert de Lisle held the lands of her and did
homage for them to her and service for 1 knight’s fee (all his life) so that
at the time of his death she was seised of his homage and service. Otnell,
by his attorney, says that Robert held the land by knight service and not
of the countess, since he says that Robert at London 2 years after the war
did Otnell homage for the land, and all his life he did Otnell service. And
he offers the king 20 marks for an inquiry.
Afterwards they reached an agreement and Isabel gave 15 marks for
licence to agree.

Cf. Curia Regis Rolls, xvi, no. 273; Oxon. Fines, 113; Bk. of Fees,
824.

430 Bampton Assize of mort dancester to declare whether Richolda
daughter of William, aunt of William Pulein, was seised of 6 a. land and
1 a. meadow in Haddon [in Brize Norton] which Denise daughter of
Richolda holds.

Denise comes and says nothing to stay the assize. The jury say that
Richolda did not die seised, so it is adjudged that he take nothing by that
assize, and he is in mercy for a false plea.

431 Northants. William of Morton gives 1 mark for licence to agree
with Ralph de Marchamley; plea of land, by surety of Gilbert de
Grenville.

Se no. 352.

432 Wallingford William Cross, who brought a writ of entry against
Nichola de Stallis and many others, has not prosecuted, so he and his
sureties for prosecuting in mercy, namely William Joie and William
Goday.

433 Essex Hubert de Ruylli was summoned to answer Isabel de Bolbec,
countess of Oxford, on a plea that he render her 64 marks which he owes
her. Isabel claims that she sold him the wardship of the lands and heirs of
Peter of Ramsey in Ramsey for 100 marks, to be paid to her or her
attorney at her castle of Great Canfield, 25 marks within a week of
Easter [27 March] 1239, 25 marks within a week of the feast of St. John
the Baptist [24 June] next following, 25 marks within a week of
Michaelmas [29 September] next following, and 25 marks within a week
of Christmas next following. Hubert unjustly withholds from her 64
marks, whence she has suffered damage to the value of 20 marks.

Hubert comes by his attorney, and they are agreed, and Hubert gives 40s.
for licence to agree. The agreement is as follows: Hubert acknowledges
the debt to Isabel, whereof he will pay her 16 marks at St. Peter ad
Vincula [1 August] 1241, 16 marks at Michaelmas next following, 16
marks at Christmas next following, and 16 marks at mid Lent [30 March]
next following. And if he does not do so, he grants that the sheriff may
do so from his lands. Isabel remits the damages.
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434 Chilterns Assize of mort dancestor to declare whether Richard de
la Lee, father of Christine and Alice, was seised of 6 a. land in
Mapledurham, of which Peter the miller and Emma his wife hold 4 a.
and Robert le Clerk 2 a.
They come and call Christine to warrant. She comes and warrants them
and says that the assize ought not to lie, since she says that the land is her
right and inheritance from her mother Emma. So that on another
occasion Christine claimed the land before the justices of the bench
against Alice, who is her sister only on her father’s side, and against
Orenge, Alice’s mother, who held one third in dower. Orenge came in the
bench and called Alice to warrant; she warranted her and herself called
Hugh de Gurnay to warrant, who came into court and by the judgement
of the court went back on his warranty. Afterwards Alice objected that
Christine could have no right in that land because she was a bastard. So
the plea was transferred to the court Christian where Christine proved
that she was legitimate. So by the judgement of the court she recovered
her seisin of the land against Alice, as the right and inheritance of her
mother Emma.
Alice conceded it. So it is adjudged that they hold in peace and Alice in
mercy. She is poor.

See no. 366.

435 Bucks. Rose widow of Erneis de Turreville, who brought a writ of
dower against the abbot of Missenden and others, has not prosecuted, so
she and her sureties for prosecuting in mercy, that is Walter Scuret of
Bourton and William of Twyford of Aynho.

See no. 296.

436 Oxon. Gillian wife of Adam son of John appoints Adam her
husband her attorney against Peter son of William of Barton; plea of
land.

437 Suffolk Thomas Crawe and Simon Siward appoint William
Humphrey their attorney against Olive widow of Robert de Frayn; plea
of dower.

See no. 498.

438 Thomas Greasley appoints John de Wyketoft <Wykinton> his
attorney against Robert of Pyrton; plea of land < warranty of charter>.
And against William of Golder; plea of custom and service.

See no. 443.

439 Maud de Gurnay appoints Richard of Coleshill her attorney
against the abbot of Thame; plea of novel disseisin.

440 Emma wife of Robert Brand appoints Laurence de Scaccario her
attorney against Richard of Stonor; plea of warranty of charter.
See no. 582.

441 Robert Brand appoints Richard Danvers his attorney against the
same about the same.



THE OXFORDSHIRE EYRE, 1241 59

442 Banbury Walter Black and Alice his wife, Robert de Lothenfeld
and Gillian his wife, and William of Stanford and Parnel his wife
claimed in the county court against Alice daughter of William Damel 1
messuage in Banbury, and against Hugh Hurtle 1 messuage in the same
town, as the right of Alice, Gillian, and Parnel. Alice and Hugh placed
themselves on the king’s grand assize. Since the town of Banbury is of
the king’s ancient demesne, it is adjudged that the grand assize cannot be
taken, but an inquisition should be made on the oath of 12 law-worthy
men of Banbury into the rights of the tenants and the claimants.

The jurors, chosen by consent of the parties, come and say that Alice and
Hugh have more right in the messuages than the claimants. So it is
adjudged that they should hold in peace, and the others in mercy for a
false claim, by surety of Geoffrey Uhete, Henry Aylward, Adam Dreng,
and Richard Black.

See no. 132.

443 Bardulf of Chastleton, Ralph de Saucey, John le Mire, and Henry
Pipard, 4 lawful knights summoned to elect 12 to make recognition of
the grand assize between Thomas Greasley, plaintiff, and William of
Golder, deforciant, of custom and services which Thomas exacts from
William for 1 hide in Golder. Whereon William, who is the tenant,
placed himself on the king’s grand assize and claimed a recognition
whether he owes Thomas the service of /s knight’s fee for that land, as he
recognises, or whether he owes the service Thomas exacts, especially
ploughing service of 1 a. land for winter sowing at Thomas’s expense and
1 man to reap Thomas’s corn for 1 day in harvest, with food provided by
Thomas. They come and have elected these: [blank in MS.]

Afterwards an agreement was reached and William of Golder gives /
mark for licence to agree, by surety of Thomas Greasley.

See no. 438; Oxon. Fines, 122.

444 Essex, Cambs. Day given to Maud of Heybridge, claimant, and
Roger of Huntingfield and Joan his wife, tenants; plea of 57 a. land in
Heybridge, Essex, and of 14 messuage in Litlington, Cambs.; at
Canterbury one month after Trinity, at the prayer of the parties.
Meanwhile the sheriff is ordered to make an extent of all the lands and
tenements which belonged to William of Heybridge, father of Maud and
Joan, except for the capital messuage of ‘Cuheye’ in Cambridgeshire and
the capital messuage of ‘Mikelington’ in Essex, and to make it known at
the said term by his letters.
Cf. no. 571.

445 Lincs. John son of Osbert of Lincoln was summoned to answer the
master of the Knights Templar in England; plea of by what right he
exercises common of pasture in the Templars’ lands in Swinethorpe,
whereas the master has no common in John’s lands, nor does John do
him service whereby he ought to have common in his lands.

John comes and calls to warrant Ernald du Boys. Let him have him at
Canterbury 15 days after Trinity, by aid of the court.

See no. 410.
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446 Chiltern Assize of nuisance to declare whether the abbot of Thame
unjustly raised a dike in Wyfold to the nuisance of Thomas Siward’s free
holding in Mapledurham. The abbot says that the assize ought not to be
held, since he did not raise the dike unjustly but by Thomas’s consent.
He proffers a deed to which Thomas’s seal is attached. Thomas cannot
deny it, so he is in mercy for a false claim.

447 Chiltern Robert of Chineham and Hawise his wife, who brought a
writ of novel disseisin against William of Englefield for their free holding
in Shiplake, have not prosecuted, so they and their sureties for
prosecuting are in mercy, namely John Attewall of Shiplake and Simon
Forthmorewe.

448 Northants. A jury comes to declare whether 4 yardlands in Higham
are free alms belonging to Master Hubert of Godmanstone’s church of
Higham, or a lay fee belonging to Ellis Barun, Ellis son of Ralph, Simon
Sweet, Robert le Noble, and Walter Spek, of which Ellis Barun holds
14 yardlands, Ellis son of Ralph 1 yardland, Simon Sweet 14 yardland,
Robert Noble 14 yardland, and Walter Spek 14 yardland.

They come and Ellis Barun says that he does not hold the whole 14
yardlands, since Ralph Gestegod and Sarah his wife hold 1 a., and for
the rest he says that the church was never in seisin of that land nor its
service. The others say the same, and thereon they place themselves on
the jury. Stephen of Newton, Robert le Sauvage, and William son of
Gilbert son of Ives, recognitors, have not come, so they are in mercy.
The jury say that Ellis holds the whole 14 yardlands. They say that all
of them hold the land of the church as its lay fee, and that the church was
never in seisin of that land but only of its service. So it is adjudged that
they should hold in peace by the service which belongs to that land and
which they are accustomed 